
 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
TUESDAY, MAY 25, 2021 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

6:30 PM 

 
 

UNLESS EXEMPT BY CDC GUIDELINES APPROPRIATE FACE COVERINGS ARE REQUIRED 

WHILE INSIDE THE BUILDING.  

 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO WEAR A MASK, PLEASE USE THE TOWN OF PAONIA YOUTUBE 

CHANNEL TO VIEW THE MEETING. 
 

Roll Call 

Approval of Agenda 

Announcements 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests 

Staff Reports 

1. Administrator’s Report 

Town Attorney Report 

Treasurer's Report 

2. Treasurer’s Report 

Disbursements 
3. Disbursements 

 

Consent Agenda 

4. Regular Minutes 

May 11, 2021 

Liquor License Renewal 

Friends of the Paradise Theatre 

Special Event Permit: 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition 

Unfinished Business 
5. Community Member Ethics Complaint 

6. DMEA - Franchise Agreement Update 

7. Ordinance 2021-03 Board of Appeals 

New Business 
8. Lot 5 Hawks Haven Subdivision Pre-Annexation Extension Request 

9. The Nature Connection & Western Slope Conservation Center - Trail Plan Presentation and In-Kind 

Request 

10. North Fork Valley Creative Coalition - Poulos Park Wall Mural 

11. Requirements for Use of Various Areas of Town Park 

12. Fund Balance Financial Policy 

 

1



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

Mayor’s Report 
13. Mayor’s Report 

Committee Reports 
14. Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Adjournment 
15. Adjournment 

  

2



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

3



 
NOTE: POSSIBLE ACTION ON ALL AGENDA ITEMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS DISCUSSION ONLY 

 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the even the Board plans to discuss more than one 

of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the announcement 

of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into executive session, 

there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 

Administrator’s Report 

Town Attorney Report 

Summary:  Staff Reports and Police Blotter will be provided monthly at the first meeting of 

the Board of Trustees.  

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VW – verbal warning 

WW – written warning 

CIT - citation 

CAA – clear adult arrest 

UTL – unable to locate 

UNF - unfounded 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

: 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

5



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

  

“Not everything that is faced can be changed, but nothing can be changed until it is faced.” James 
Baldwin 

Administrators Report for May 25, 2021 

Please note: This report is not a comprehensive list of all projects but acts as a highlight for included 
packet documents, ongoing, and upcoming projects. 

Previous Meetings Follow-up: 

1. Administrator Recommendation: - I recommend the Board set the June 28th CIRSA Training 
as a special meeting, to include the requested agenda item discussing the Mayor (and 
Trustee) roles and responsibilities.  

2. The Town Insurance general liability coverage does not cover privately hosted street 
closures or play-street events that Town is not holding.  We are researching alternatives for 
the Poplar Avenue approved street closure. 

3.  
4. Ms. Gia Fanelli provided written follow-up to statements she made at the 5/11/21 meeting.  

They are attached after this report. 
5. Committee and Advisory meetings continue to be updated on the Town website.  Please 

advise, should you notice any missing or that need updated. 
 

Updates: 

1. The required submittal of documents to DOLA for the updated contract agreement will be 
completed 5/26/21 following disbursements. Additional updates to follow.    

2. The May 25th plant tour will be available via the Town website once received from Mr. 
Jacobson. 

3. Watering at all Town Parks is underway. No treated water is being used in the parks other 
than small area beside the Town Park restrooms.   

4. Director Loberg has resumed ORC duties for the distribution side of the water treatment 
since successful completion of the updated license test.  The next test is scheduled for 9PM 
June 3rd, which is the first available test date. The test will be administered in the same 
fashion as prior testing, under video proxy by the CDPHE approved testing entity. 

5. The Town continues to operate under a month-to-month ORC (Operator in Responsible 
Charge) for the treatment side of water treatment. A delegation plan has been submitted to 
CDPHE.  A month-to-month written contract has been provided to CDPHE. 

6. Spring Cleanup is underway this week for May 24th to 28th.  A roll off dumpster is located in 
Town Park by the skate park as well. 

7. The bulk-fill station has been open since 5/14/21.   
8. The Town Attorney and I had a meeting with the Paonia Ditch Company May 11th, prior to the 

meeting. Follow up to be provided by the Town Attorney. 

6



From the desk of Corinne Ferguson 
Town Administrator/Clerk 
 

9. I am out of the office until June 1st.  I will have access to email after May 25th if there is a 
need.  I will be absent also for the June 8th meeting. 

10. Memorial Day trash services will run Tuesday, June 1st. 
 

Thank you. 

7



Hi Corinne 
 
The thoughts I wanted to get across for the meeting coming up are... 
 
Before the board considers the adoption of 2018 IBC I strongly feel certain builders, contractors, 
engineers/Architects and especially townspeople need to collaborate and determine exceptions & 
exemptions for Paonia which strongly represent the historical character of Paonia and its people 
I also know the fee structure needs to be altered keeping in mind the income disparity of our citizens.  
 
You had mentioned that you had a list of exemptions and or exceptions that would address a lot of 
unnecessary costs that specific codes and restrictive regulations would  incur which I still have not seen. 
Would you please send it to me ASAP.  
 
The list of concerns I had brought up at the last meeting had to do with  
the pie graph that Mary did, it is very misleading and I would hope she replaces it with another pie chart 
that reflects the true statistics!!!  
With all do respect Dan should have been removed months ago! I address this in my last paragraph. 
 
I've included the following Board Retreat Goals below that go hand in hand to create a more cohesive 
efficient  process. 
 
Buckets 
 
1 Administration- building codes and inspections. 
 
Goal 3 operations objective 1  immediate needs 
(5) implement a neighborhood clean up and pride projects 
 
Goal 4 services amenities- objective 3 Prioritize issues, resist temptation to be distracted-if the list of 
exceptions and exemptions can be completed and amended to the 2018 IBC to have ready for the Board 
of Appeals then there will be no unnecessary discussion in later meetings. LESS DISTRACTION 
 
Next: call Tim Austin start the process to hire him as local building inspector. 
this will solve your other goal...under other important points. ( building trust between staff, board and 
citizens) The board wrote when trust goes up drama goes down. 
The townspeople trusted Dan Reardon would be let go back in November of 2020. As of today he is still 
here and the Mayor has posted an erroneous pie chart that presents him as the peoples choice. 
The drama continues at almost every meeting because the people are being played for fools. 
 
Thanks for coming by the laundromat  and including my thoughts in the next meeting on the 25th 
 
 

8



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

9



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Disbursements 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Regular Minutes 

May 11, 2021 

Liquor License Renewal 

Friends of the Paradise Theatre 

Special Event Permit: 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

LLR: 

No issues noted.  

 

SEP:  

No issues noted.  Reiterate the necessity for monitoring/no intermingling of liquor for events 

or other local licensed businesses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

29



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 

Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 

May 11, 2021 

  

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

The Regular Meeting held in person on Tuesday, April 27, 2021, was called to order at 6:30 p.m. 

by Mayor Mary Bachran, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. Formal Video Record at 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QO8yQF5GCFo 
 

Roll Call 

PRESENT 

Mayor Bachran 

Trustee Bear 

Trustee Budinger 

Trustee Knutson 

Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Meck 

Trustee Pattison  
 

 

Approval of Agenda 

Community member suggested removal from the agenda the Mayor’s Report - Building Official 

survey and suggested to table the ethics complaint against a Board member until after the CIRSA 

trustee training.  

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, Seconded by Trustee Budinger to agenda as presented.  

 
 

Announcements  
Declaration of Stage (1) one Drought: 

Mayor Bachran discussed that the Town is in a stage (1) drought. 

Discussion ensued regarding triggers for stage (2) drought. 

Mayor Bachran read a statement regarding rules about conduct during the Board meetings. 

 

Recognition of Visitors & Guests  
 None.  
 

Staff Reports 
 Administrator’s Report: 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

30

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QO8yQF5GCFo


 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

 Administrator Ferguson discussed question that the Board members had in regard 

to the report and updated the Board on current and new projects. The report was 

included in the packet. 

 Discussion on the status of the asset inventory. 

 Discussion about the Paonia Ditch Company – Town Attorney Nerlin will provide 

a report at the next meeting.  

 DOLA error on finalization dates regarding the Administrative Grant contract 

agreement for the infrastructure analysis DOLA is working on getting the contract 

agreement updated. The draft infrastructure analysis report is being reviewed by 

the Board of Trustees, Advisory Water Committee, and staff for comments.  

 

Public Work’s Report: 

 Public Work’s Director Loberg’s report was included in the packet.  

 Discussion ensued about the spring water production. 

 Discussion ensued about the status of the bulk water station. 

 Discussion ensued on adding the policy of the bulk water station discussion to an 

upcoming meeting’s agenda.  

 

Police Report: 

 The police blotter was included in the packet.  

 Discussion ensued about the officer’s patrol for the Hotchkiss Police Department. 

The last shift will be May 15th.  

 

Finance Report: 

 Finance report was included in the packet.  

 

Attorney’s Report: 

 Board of Trustees training to be scheduled. 

 Work session to be scheduled in June to discuss the North Fork Airport. 

 

Treasurer’s Report: 

 Reviewed disbursements and payroll.  

o Disbursements were included in the packet. 

 Requested the Board to review the draft fund balance & reserve policy before the 

formal discussion scheduled for May 25th meeting.  
 

 

 

Disbursements 
 
 

 Motion by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Budinger to approve the disbursements as 

presented.  

31



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

Consent Agenda 
Regular Minutes: 

 April 27, 2021 

 

Liquor License Renewal: 

 West Elk Wine & Sprits 

 

Special Event Liquor License: 

 Pickin Productions – Pickin in the Park August 2021 

 Trustee Bear not in favor of waiving park use fees. 

 Item was removed from consent agenda and was placed on the regular 

agenda for approval following consent agenda. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, Seconded by Trustee Knutson to approve the modified 

consent agenda removing Picken in the Park item from the consent agenda and placing it in 

the regular agenda for approval.  

 

 

Unfinished Business  

Pickin the Park Productions – Pickin in the Park August 2021: 

 Discussion about the Pickin in Park’s previous request for waiving park use fees 

in exchange for a sponsorship. 

 Discussion about reviewing the current policy and possibly modifying it to be 

consistent in waiving of event fees. 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety (GAPS) and Public Works Committees to review the 

current fee policy and bring it back to the Board.  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

32



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Meck to approve the Request for 

Rob Miller’s Picken in the Park Production – August 2021. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Meck, Seconded by Trustee Bear to add to the next agenda the 

discussion with possible action regarding the requirement of vendors to use the concrete area. 

 

 Motion amended by Trustee Pattison, Seconded by Trustee Bear to broaden the discussion on 

how the Town requires varies organizations to use various areas of the park.  

 

New Business  

Clark’s End Variance Application: 

 Lynn Mattingly developer of Clark’s End Subdivision brought forth a variance 

application requesting the road grader slope on the cul-da-sac at the south end be 

increased by a 0.5%. The variance request was reviewed by the Planning Committee 

and was recommended approval by the Board on April 30th at 1:00 pm. 

 Trustee Pattison asked the Town Attorney regarding how to proceed in the future 

regarding the chapter 17 flood section and a section where it talks about exception 

that the Planning Commission can grant in section 17-1-50 in the of the Town code. 

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear  X   

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear  X   

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson  X   

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

33



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

 Motion by Trustee Knutson, Seconded by Trustee Bear to approve the Clark’s End variance 

application.  

 

A disruption occurred during meeting. 

 

 Motion by Trustee Bear, Seconded by Trustee Knutson for 15-minute recess or until 

disruption resolved. 

 Recess – 7:26 pm 

 Returned to open meeting – 7:36 pm 
 

 

Ordinance 2021-TBD Board of Appeals: 

 Discussion ensued about the Board of Appeals in combination with the Board of 

Adjustments. The Board of Appeals consists of the building area and the Board of 

Adjustments consist of the zoning area.  

 Discussed incorporating the language to the building application and zoning 

applications the right to appeal.  

 Discussed section in the Town code needs to be cleaned up. The building code is 

still in review with possible adoption of the 2018 code. A section in the first 

chapter of the 2018 building code specifically has a section about the Board of 

Appeals which needs to be noted that it is being amended and needs to reflect the 

change. 

 Discussed page 2 Sec. 18-11-10 Appeals Procedures states 4 members and the 

current code 18-4-30 list 5 members 1 being the Building Inspector.  

o Needs the language clarified and reflect the Town code.  

 Discussed to use the guidance from the IBC in appendix B in the selection of the 

members.  

 Discussed page 3 Sec. 18-11-30 Fees. Trustee Pattison is not in favor of having a 

fee to be able to appeal.  

 

Public Members: 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

34



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

 A community member suggested meeting with local builders, contractors, and 

have the community more involved.  

 A community member suggested the Board look into the Town code regarding the 

section about the Board of Appeals and Board of Adjustments.  

 

300 Block of Poplar Avenue Street Closure Request – Barb Heck: 

 Barb Heck presented a request to have Poplar Ave. between 3rd St. & 4 St. turned 

into a play street. This would consist of closing the street to through traffic on 

weekends from morning until dusk. 

o Closing street from early Saturday morning to Sunday night through summer 

months except for the 4th of July weekend.  

o Board suggested publishing the street closure. 

o Sawhorses would be used to close the street. Board suggested adding some 

kind of reflector to them.  

o Board questioned the having insurance. Town Attorney stated that he will 

check with CIRSA in regard to having insurance for a street closure / play 

street. 

 

 Motion by Trustee Pattison, Seconded by Trustee Bear to approve the street closure prior to 

the first weekend following the 4 weekends and bring back to Board for Review. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Pattison, Seconded by Trustee Meck that when the request from 

Barb Heck comes back for review that the Board have a policy that is consistent with this 

type of street closure “play streets” and make sure that it is fairly applied across town.  

 

DMEA – Franchise Agreement Update: 

 DMEA representative Jim Heneghan discussed the franchise agreement and has 

answered questions.  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

35



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

 

 Discussed the concern about “Gross Revenues” in page 2 section 1.7 and being 

taxed on a service.  

o Jim Heneghan stated that it is the State’s “case law” and that DMEA is 

required to follow. 

o A public member stated that they would like to see where in the “case 

law” shows’ this requirement.  

 Discussed the Net Usage: This represents the total electricity consumption minus the 

total amount of electricity sent back to the grid by the solar installation those who have 

solar and produce electricity are not subject to paying the fee. Jim Heneghan stated that 

this is called “Retail Net Reading” and it is dictated by the state which DMEA is 

required to follow. 

 Discussed the concern about “Public Project” in page 2 section 1.10. 

 Discussed the concerns about “Change of Franchise Fee & Other Items” in page 6 

section 5.1. Jim Heneghan stated that the Town sets the fee. 

 Discussion ensued to modify the franchise collection fee in the Town code. Look 

into alternative contracts. The Town’s franchise agreement is dated to end in July 

2021. Jim Heneghan stated that DMEA’s term of franchise agreements is 20 

years.  

 

 Motion made by Trustee Budinger, seconded by Trustee Knutson to introduce the DMEA 

franchise agreement first read and bring back with Case Law specifically related to tax.  

 

Ordinance – TBD Accessory Dwelling Units: 

 Discussion ensued on the draft ordinance & summary about accessory dwelling units 

(ADU’s) was presented by the Governmental Affairs & Public Safety Committee 

(GAPS). Requested the Board to review and make recommendations. 

 Discussion ensued in the current method to approve ADU’s was through a variance.  

 Discussion ensued about tabling the item unit the infrastructure analysis was 

completed and until the water moratorium issue was resolved.  

 Discussed how the Board would like to proceed with the current unapproved ADU’s 

in Town and direct staff and the building inspector on it.  

 

 Motion made by Trustee Knutson, seconded by Trustee Bear to table this item tax.  

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

36



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 8 

 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Pattison to direct staff to look into 

unapproved and identify the ADU’s in Town and bring the results back to the Board.  

 

Community Member Ethics Complaint: 

 Trustee Knuston recused him self from the vote.  

 Motion made by Trustee Bear, seconded by Trustee Pattison to table item until Suzanne 

Watson complainer was able to be present in the meeting and have the item as first on the 

agenda.  

 

Mobile Retail Food Establishments: 

 Discussed the food truck issues and amending the Town code. A document with 

recommendations from the GAPS committee was included in the packet. 

 Suggestion to as pop-up restaurants. 

 Suggestions to have businesses register with the Town. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Budinger, seconded by Trustee Knutson to direct the GAPS and the 

Town Attorney work together on drafting an ordinance. 

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson   X  

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger X    

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson X    

37



 

  

MAY  11, 2021 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 9 

 

 

Mayor’s Report 

 Mayor’s report was in the packet. 

 Working on CDOT grant. 

 

 Motion made by Trustee Pattison, seconded by Trustee Meck to add to the agenda for the 

next meeting review of the Powers of the Mayor.  

  
 

Committee Reports 

Finance & Personnel report: 

 Nothing to report. 
 

      Governmental Affairs & Public Safety report: 

 Reported on current and new projects. 

 The short-term rentals overview was in the packet.  
 

     Public Works-Utilities-Facilities report: 

 Reported on current and new projects.  

      Tree Board: 

 Reported on current and new projects.  

      Advisory Water report: 

 Reported on current and new projects.  

 Discussed the hazard with the non-finished guard rails at the Minnesota Creek. 

 

 
 

Adjournment 
 The meeting was adjourned by Mayor Bachran at 9:02 pm 

 

 

 

_______________________________  ______________________________ 

Amanda Mojarro, Deputy Clerk                          Mary Bachran, Mayor  

 

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

Council Member For Against Abstain Absent 

Trustee Bear X    

Trustee Budinger  X   

Trustee Johnson X    

Trustee Knutson  X   

Trustee Meck X    

Trustee Pattison X    

Mayor Bachran      

38



39



40



41



42



43



44



 

May 12, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Community Member Ethics Complaint 

Summary:   

Tabled from May 11, 2021 meeting. 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

45



Memorandum - Ethics Complaint 

  
TO: Paonia Board of Trustees and Mayor 
 
FROM:  Suzanne Watson, 903 Second St., Paonia CO 
 
Date:  April 8, 2021 
 
Subject: Violation of Resolution 2017-06 Establishing Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials. 
 
On March 24th, 2021 I attended the bi-weekly Personnel Committee meeting and observed the check signing 
process for disbursements with Finance Officer Cindy Jones, Treasurer Ross King, Trustee Dave Knutson, and 
Trustee Karen Budinger. Administrator Ferguson was not in the meeting but in and out of the room which also 
serves as her office but was not participating in the meeting.  Treasurer King left after the disbursements were 
concluded.  The meeting continued with Jones, Knutson and Budinger.  Discussion of paid time off (PTO 
discussion as announced by the committee as a topic at the previous Board meeting) ensued.  
 
Trustee Knutson said that he didn’t want to see employees getting paid at the end of the year because they 
didn’t use their vacation time. He asserted that it was also difficult to hire someone to cover during vacations 
because the period was so brief.  He presented a calendar specific to Finance Officer Cindy Jones’ work 
schedule and explained that Cindy had highlighted the days she could take off during the summer. They were 
going to review potential vacation days. 
 
At this point I asked if this wasn’t Corinne’s job? I stated that Cindy was Corinne Ferguson’s employee, and this 
was not the personnel committee's job. I also said that they were interfering with the Administrator’s job.  
 
Knutson stated that the Finance/Personnel Committee's job was to "help the Town save money,” so it was 
Committee’s concern. Cindy and Trustee Budinger also concurred that Committee involvement in this matter 
was appropriate. 
 
Trustee Knutson then asked me to leave the committee meeting because they needed to discuss a personnel 
matter which was private. At that point I left. 
 
During this meeting, I witnessed the Personnel Committee violating Town of Paonia Resolution 2017-06 
Establishing Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials. Most specifically Section 1. (d.) and (i.) as follows: 
 

d.  No member shall act or attempt to act on any matter which is encompassed within the 
responsibilities of the Town Administrator or other staff member. 
 
i.  Except where applicable laws or Town ordinances or resolutions specifically provide otherwise, no 
member shall allow or encourage any employee to disregard the chain of command within the Town or 
involve himself or herself in employment matters below the level of the Board’s direct reports. 

 
In addition to the Town’s Standards of Conduct, there is also specific guidance within CIRSA/CML “Ethics, 
Liability & Best Practices Handbook for Elected Officials” that is being ignored. CIRSA warns that an elected 
official acting outside of that elected official's “job description" puts the Town at risk.  
 

 

46



 
CIRSA states: 
 

 
“From a liability standpoint, one of the worst things you can do is to act outside the scope 
of your legal authority. An area where authority issues often arise, particularly in smaller 
communities, is in the “committee,” “commissioner” or “liaison” format for personnel 
administration.” 

 
Considering what I saw, I believe the activities of the Personnel Committee should be evaluated. I am 
concerned that out of public's view, the Personnel/Finance Committee has become overly involved in 
personnel matters and is overstepping its authority. The Paonia Trustees were elected to be board members 
as described in the State Statutes and Town Ordinances. They are not hired as Town consultants or 
employees.  
 
While the Personnel Committee might believe they are “saving the Town money,” this type of involvement 
could easily become a costly liability. 
 
 
 Attachments: 
 
1. TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO RESOLUTION NO. 2017-06 
2.  CIRSA/CML Ethics, Liability & Best Practices Handbook for Elected Official, second edition (pages 22, 43, 44) 
 
Note:  I have highlighted the most pertinent sections in the following pages.  

47



TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO RESOLUTION NO. 2017-06 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING STANDARDS OF CONDUCT  

FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS OF THE TOWN 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees believes that the members of the Board, including the Mayor, must act at all 

times within the scope of their lawful authority, in accordance with the highest ethical standards, and in a 

manner that accords all persons with respect and dignity; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to establish for itself, and for each member of the Board, including the Mayor, 

minimum standards of conduct to assure the same; and 

WHEREAS, the failure to comply with such standards would constitute serious misconduct that would reflect 

poorly on the Town, and would detrimentally affect the credibility of the Board and the effectiveness of the 

Town in serving the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Board intends that the standards of conduct established herein be enforceable by such 

consequences as will assure compliance therewith; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, Delta County, 

Colorado, that the following Board of Trustees Standards of Conduct are hereby adopted: 

PAONIA BOARD OF TRUSTEES STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

Section 1. Scope of Authority. The Mayor and each Trustee has only such authority as is conferred by 

applicable state statutes, and ordinances not inconsistent with such statutes. No member of the Board of 

including Trustees, including the Mayor, shall act in a manner that exceeds such authority, but not limited to: 

a. No member shall purport to speak on behalf of the Board on any matter on which the Board has 

not taken a position, or represent a Board position inaccurately. 

b. No member shall make commitments or promises individually on any matter for which a vote or 

consensus of the Board is required. 

c. At Board meetings, no one member shall attempt to dominate the discussion. Each member shall 

strive to speak once on any topic, and then allow each other member to speak on that topic 

before speaking again. Members shall seek recognition from the presiding officer before 

speaking. Members shall primarily direct remarks at Board meetings to the Board as a whole, 

rather than engaging in back-and-forth arguments with another member. 

d. No member shall act or attempt to act on any matter which is encompassed within the 

responsibilities of the Town Administrator or other staff member. 

e. No member shall give orders to any staff member who reports directly or indirectly to the 

Town Administrator. 

e. Excepting the provision in the Town Administrator’s contract that he/she works under the 

“general supervision” of the Mayor; no member shall individually direct the work of the Town 

Administrator or other direct report of the Board. Any such directions shall only be given by the 

Board as a whole, and such direct reports shall be held accountable only for directions given by 

the Board as a whole. 

f. The Mayor (or in the Mayor’s absence the Mayor pro tem) shall be responsible for presiding 

over meetings of the Board. Except as otherwise specifically granted by the state statutes or 

ordinances not inconsistent therewith, the Mayor (and in the Mayor’s absence the Mayor pro 

tem) shall, for all other purposes, have only the same powers as any other member of the Board. 

48



g. Individual members may make reasonable inquiries to the Town Administrator concerning 

matters pertaining to their decision-making responsibilities, but shall be careful to avoid giving 

orders or directions. 

h. Except where applicable laws or Town ordinances or resolutions specifically provide otherwise, 

no member shall allow or encourage any employee to disregard the chain of command within the 

Town, or involve himself or herself in employment matters below the level of the Board’s direct 

reports. 

i. No member shall direct or request the hiring or firing of any employee to or from any position 

that reports directly or indirectly to the Town Administrator. 

Section 2. Personal Conduct. The Board of Trustees desires to serve as a positive example for civility, respect, 

and dignity in its dealings with one another, the Town’s staff, citizens, and the business community. To that 

end, each member shall comply with the following standards of personal conduct: 

j. Each member shall respect the rights of others to be heard and given due consideration of their 

views. 

k. Each member shall recognize that the Mayor has the right, in consultation with the Town 

Administrator, to establish the agenda for all meetings. 

l. No member shall berate, intimidate, or belittle others for expressing their opinions or viewpoints, 

or engage in speech that is inflammatory, defamatory, demeaning, bullying, or threatening. 

m. No member shall make disparaging remarks about any Town employee in a public setting. While 

criticism about job performance may be a valid topic of discussion, members shall choose a 

setting appropriate for such discussion. 

n. No member shall fail to comply with any provision of the Town’s employee handbook with 

respect to the treatment of employees, including but not limited to provisions concerning 

prohibited harassment, discrimination, and bullying. 

o. Each member shall direct all inquiries or requests for staff support to the Town Administrator, 

and shall respect the time limits on staff support. 

p. Each member shall comply at all times with applicable state statutes, the Paonia Municipal Code 

and the Rules of Procedure adopted by the Board. 

Section 3. Consequences for Violation of Standards of Conduct. Any member of the Board who violates 

these standards of conduct is subject to disciplinary action. Such disciplinary action shall be taken upon 

approval by a vote of a majority of the Board members in office. No member shall vote on any matter 

pertaining to his or her own discipline. The Board reserves the right to take one or more of the following steps, 

after consideration of the seriousness, duration, and/or repeated nature of the violation: 

q. Remedial or educational training on the subject of the violation intended to avoid or prevent 

future violations; 

r. Public warning; 

s. Removal from any appointed Board position or policy liaison role; 

t. A resolution of public censure; 

u. A request that the member resign from his or her elected office; or 

v. Removal from office in accordance with C.R.S. Section 31-4-307. 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED THIS 11th DAY OF APRIL, 2017.  
49



CIRSA/CML  

Ethics, Liability & Best Practices Handbook for Elected Official, second edition  

(excerpt- pages 22, 43, 44) 

 

Page 22 

What Key Exclusions do We Need to be Concerned About?  

 

There are several exclusions of concern, and a few are highlighted here. These exclusions are universal in most 

liability policies.  

 

The “willful and wanton” exclusion is probably the exclusion of greatest concern to elected and other public 

officials. This exclusion applies to both coverage parts of the liability policy, and states that coverage does not 

apply to any loss arising out of the actions of any elected or appointed official, trustee, director, officer, 

employee, volunteer or judge of a member entity when such acts or omissions are deemed to be willful and 

wanton. And remember, you are a “Covered Party” only while in the performance of your duties for the 

member entity, and acting within the scope of your authorized duties for the member entity.  

 

As you probably know, the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act’s protections are lost when you are 

determined to have been acting outside the “scope of employment,” that is, outside the course and scope of your 

authorized duties as an elected official. But such conduct has a double consequence: the loss of your liability 

coverages through CIRSA. This is the reason that our public officials’ liability training places a heavy emphasis 

on the need to understand your “job description” as an elected official, and the need to stay within the 

parameters of that “job description.”  

 

Staying within the “scope of employment” is also important to lessening your risks of liability where federal 

civil rights claims are concerned. You probably know that, under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983, you can be sued for a 

civil rights violation in your individual or official capacity. An individual capacity suit is one that alleges that 

you violated someone’s constitutional or other federally protected right while acting under the auspices of your 

public office. (An official capacity suit, on the other hand, is a suit against the entity, rather than you 

individually.) A finding of individual liability in a Section 1983 suit essentially means that you’ve violated a 

clearly established constitutional or statutory right of which a reasonable person should have been aware, and 

that your conduct was unreasonable. Such conduct can fall within the “outside the scope” exclusion; violating 

someone’s civil rights is likely not within the “job description.” Thus, elected officials need to be especially 

cautious about conduct that could be actionable as an intentional civil rights violation.  

 

Pages 43, 44 

Be Aware of the Scope of Your Authority, and Stay Within That Scope  

 

From a liability standpoint, one of the worst things you can do is to act outside the scope of your legal authority. 

An area where authority issues often arise, particularly in smaller communities, is in the 

“committee,” “commissioner” or “liaison” format for personnel administration. In this format, an individual 

council member or trustee is in a supervisory or oversight relationship with respect to a department, department 

head, or employee. Thus, a town might designate a trustee as “water commissioner,” “police commissioner,” 

etc.  

 

What’s troubling about this format is that it’s often not described anywhere in the community’s enactments, nor 

is the authority of each commissioner set forth in writing. Rather, this format seems to be a relic of oral history 

and tradition. But the lack of written guidelines means that there are significant personal risks to the 

commissioner. What if the commissioner takes an adverse job action, such as seeking to terminate an 

employee? Under what authority is the commissioner acting?  

 

50



If the commissioner can’t prove that the action was within the scope of his or her authority, there may be 

consequences from a liability and insurance coverage standpoint. The Governmental Immunity Act, for 

instance, provides protections for public officials only when in the performance of their authorized duties. 

Likewise, liability coverage protections through CIRSA only apply when a public official is acting within the 

scope and performance of official duties. Finally, even if there is authority on the books, this format in 

particular can lend itself to uncertainty over who does what—“Is this a decision for the board, commissioner or 

department head?”  

 

Similar questions arise when an individual elected official chooses to become involved in a personnel matter in 

a way that isn’t authorized by the entity’s personnel enactments. Where is the authority for such involvement? If 

you can’t find a firm source of authority, you may be heading for trouble. An individual elected official’s 

inappropriate action can not only create liability exposure for the official, but put him or her crosswise with the 

other members of the governing body.  

 

Respect the Principle That Each Employee Should Have Only One Boss  

This seems like an obvious principle that every organization should follow. You don’t want an employee 

confused by multiple directions from multiple supervisors. You also don’t want an employee playing one 

supervisor off against another. When elected officials become inappropriately involved in personnel matters, 

this basic principle is violated, and the result is chaos.  

 

If you allow yourself to become embroiled in a personnel matter involving a subordinate employee, the 

employee may then feel that the word of his or her supervisor can be disregarded. You may have forever 

undermined that supervisor’s authority, or allowed the subordinate to do so. Likewise, if you were involved in 

lobbying for the hiring of a favorite applicant (even if it was for good reasons), that person may always feel that 

you, not his or her supervisor, are the go-to person on personnel issues.  

 

Similar principles apply with respect to your governing body’s oversight of its manager/ administrator and other 

direct reports. Elected officials should recognize the council/ board is not a group of seven or other multiple 

number of bosses, but one boss. Therefore, members of the body should commit themselves to speaking with 

one voice to their direct reports and to exercising their oversight role—e.g. performance reviews, goal setting, 

etc.—as a group. Even when there are differences of opinion as to how to address an issue with the 

manager/administrator, the body should arrive at its position. If the governing body does not work to speak with 

one voice to its direct reports, it’s undermining its credibility as a board and its ability to gain accountability at 

the highest levels in the organization.  

 

This is not to suggest that a militaristic chain of command is required in every workplace. In fact, flexibility in 

reporting relationships is desirable in some situations. For instance, you wouldn’t want to lock your employee 

into reporting a harassment claim only to an immediate supervisor, if the immediate supervisor is the one 

alleged to be engaging in the harassment. But you can maintain the needed flexibility without collapsing into 

the chaos that your inappropriate involvement in personnel matters will beget.  
 

51



Resolution 2017-06 - Final  
 04-11-2017 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO.  2017-06 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS OF THE TOWN 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees believes that the members of the Board, including the Mayor, 

must act at all times within the scope of their lawful authority, in accordance with the highest 

ethical standards, and in a manner that accords all persons with respect and dignity; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to establish for itself, and for each member of the Board, including 

the Mayor, minimum standards of conduct to assure the same; and 

WHEREAS, the failure to comply with such standards would constitute serious misconduct that 

would reflect poorly on the Town, and would detrimentally affect the credibility of the Board and 

the effectiveness of the Town in serving the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Board intends that the standards of conduct established herein be enforceable by 

such consequences as will assure compliance therewith; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, 

Delta County, Colorado, that the following Board of Trustees Standards of Conduct are hereby 

adopted:   

PAONIA BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

Section 1. Scope of Authority. The Mayor and each Trustee has only such authority as is conferred 

by applicable state statutes, and ordinances not inconsistent with such statutes. No member of the 

Board of Trustees, including the Mayor, shall act in a manner that exceeds such authority, 

including but not limited to: 

a. No member shall purport to speak on behalf of the Board on any matter on which the 

Board has not taken a position, or represent a Board position inaccurately. 

b. No member shall make commitments or promises individually on any matter for which 

a vote or consensus of the Board is required. 

c. At Board meetings, no one member shall attempt to dominate the discussion. Each 

member shall strive to speak once on any topic, and then allow each other member to 

speak on that topic before speaking again. Members shall seek recognition from the 

presiding officer before speaking. Members shall primarily direct remarks at Board 

meetings to the Board as a whole, rather than engaging in back-and-forth arguments 

with another member. 

d. No member shall act or attempt to act on any matter which is encompassed within the 

responsibilities of the Town Administrator or other staff member. 

e. No member shall give orders to any staff member who reports directly or indirectly to 

the Town Administrator. 

52



Resolution 2017-06 - Final  
 04-11-2017 

f. Excepting the provision in the Town Administrator’s contract that he/she works under 

the “general supervision” of the Mayor; no member shall individually direct the work 

of the Town Administrator or other direct report of the Board. Any such directions shall 

only be given by the Board as a whole, and such direct reports shall be held accountable 

only for directions given by the Board as a whole. 

g. The Mayor (or in the Mayor’s absence the Mayor pro tem) shall be responsible for 

presiding over meetings of the Board. Except as otherwise specifically granted by the 

state statutes or ordinances not inconsistent therewith, the Mayor (and in the Mayor’s 

absence the Mayor pro tem) shall, for all other purposes, have only the same powers as 

any other member of the Board. 

h. Individual members may make reasonable inquiries to the Town Administrator 

concerning matters pertaining to their decision-making responsibilities, but shall be 

careful to avoid giving orders or directions. 

i. Except where applicable laws or Town ordinances or resolutions specifically provide 

otherwise, no member shall allow or encourage any employee to disregard the chain of 

command within the Town, or involve himself or herself in employment matters below 

the level of the Board’s direct reports. 

j. No member shall direct or request the hiring or firing of any employee to or from any 

position that reports directly or indirectly to the Town Administrator.  

Section 2. Personal Conduct. The Board of Trustees desires to serve as a positive example for 

civility, respect, and dignity in its dealings with one another, the Town’s staff, citizens, and the 

business community. To that end, each member shall comply with the following standards of 

personal conduct: 

a. Each member shall respect the rights of others to be heard and given due consideration 

of their views. 

b. Each member shall recognize that the Mayor has the right, in consultation with the 

Town Administrator, to establish the agenda for all meetings. 

c. No member shall berate, intimidate, or belittle others for expressing their opinions or 

viewpoints, or engage in speech that is inflammatory, defamatory, demeaning, 

bullying, or threatening. 

d. No member shall make disparaging remarks about any Town employee in a public 

setting. While criticism about job performance may be a valid topic of discussion, 

members shall choose a setting appropriate for such discussion. 

e. No member shall fail to comply with any provision of the Town’s employee handbook 

with respect to the treatment of employees, including but not limited to provisions 

concerning prohibited harassment, discrimination, and bullying. 

f. Each member shall direct all inquiries or requests for staff support to the Town 

Administrator, and shall respect the time limits on staff support. 

g. Each member shall comply at all times with applicable state statutes, the Paonia 

Municipal Code and the Rules of Procedure adopted by the Board. 

53



Resolution 2017-06 - Final  
 04-11-2017 

Section 3. Consequences   for   Violation   of   Standards   of   Conduct.   Any member of the 

Board who violates these standards of conduct is subject to disciplinary action. Such disciplinary 

action shall be taken upon approval by a vote of a majority of the Board members in office. No 

member shall vote on any matter pertaining to his or her own discipline. The Board reserves the 

right to take one or more of the following steps, after consideration of the seriousness, duration, 

and/or repeated nature of the violation: 

a. Remedial or educational training on the subject of the violation intended to avoid or prevent 

future violations; 

b. Public warning; 

c. Removal from any appointed Board position or policy liaison role; 

d. A resolution of public censure;  

e. A request that the member resign from his or her elected office; or 

f. Removal from office in accordance with C.R.S. Section 31-4-307. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED, AND ADOPTED THIS 11th DAY OF APRIL, 2017. 

By   s/s                                                      By _s/s_________________________                                                                 

Corinne Ferguson, Town Clerk   Charles Stewart, Mayor 

54



 

May 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

DMEA - Franchise Agreement Update 

Summary:   

Second reading of the updated DMEA franchise agreement.  

 

Notes: 

 

Case law reference requested by the Board to be provided by DMEA. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

55



 

1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-02 

 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE TOWN OF PAONIA AND 

DELTA-MONTROSE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION 

 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A FRANCHISE BY THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, 

TO DELTA-MONTROSE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, TO 

LOCATE, BUILD, CONSTRUCT, RECONSTRUCT, REPLACE, MODIFY, UPGRADE, 

UPRATE, RELOCATE, REMOVE, ACQUIRE, PURCHASE, EXTEND, MAINTAIN, AND 

OPERATE INTO, WITHIN, AND THROUGH THE TOWN OF PAONIA, DELTA COUNTY, 

COLORADO, ALL FACILITIES NECESSARY FOR, OR RELATED TO, THE PURCHASE, 

TRANSMISSION, AND DISTRIBUTION OF ELECTRICITY TO THE TOWN OF PAONIA 

AND THE RESIDENTS, BUSINESSES AND INDUSTRY OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, BY 

MEANS OF LINES, WIRE, CABLES, FIBER, POLES, FACILITIES, EQUIPMENT OR 

OTHERWISE, OVER, UNDER, ALONG, ACROSS, AND THROUGH ANY AND ALL 

STREETS, ALLEYS, VIADUCTS, BRIDGES, ROADS, LANES, AND OTHER PUBLIC WAYS 

AND PLACES IN SAID TOWN OF PAONIA, AND FIXING THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

THEREOF. 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the "Town") is a statutory Town in accordance with 

C.R.S. 31-1-203; and  

WHEREAS, the Town has those powers vested pursuant to C.R.S. 31-15-101 et. seq.; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. 31-32-101 et. seq. the Town has the authority to enter into 

franchise agreements; and  

 WHEREAS, DELTA-MONTROSE ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION ("DMEA" or the 

"Company") is a Colorado cooperative electrical association that that provides an electrical utility; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Town by and through its board of Trustees wishes to enter into a 

franchise agreement with DMEA. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN 

OF PAONIA, COLORADO, THAT: 

 

 

 

56



 

2 
 

ARTICLE 1 

TITLE AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1 This Chapter shall be known and may be cited as the "Delta-Montrose Electric Association 

Franchise Chapter". 

1.2 For the purpose of this Franchise agreement, the following words and phrases shall have the 

meaning given in this Article. When not inconsistent with context, words used in the present 

tense include the future tense, words in the plural number include the singular number, and 

words in the singular number include the plural number. The word "shall" is mandatory and 

"may" is permissive. Words not defined in this article shall be given their common and 

ordinary meaning. 

1.3 "Board of Trustees" refers to and is the legislative body of the Town. 

1.4 "Company" refers to and is Delta-Montrose Electric Association, a Colorado cooperative 

electric association, and is the grantee of rights under this Franchise.  

1.5 "Facilities" or "Company Facilities" refer to and are all of the Company's facilities 

reasonably necessary to provide electric service and communication fiber into, within and 

through the Town, including but not limited to substations, transmission and distribution 

structures, lines, wires, electrical equipment, transformers, overhead and underground lines, 

meters, meter reading devices, control equipment, street lights, wires, cables, fiber optic 

cables, electric transportation charging facilities and poles. 

1.6 "Franchise" refers to the terms and conditions of this ordinance. 

1.7 "Gross Revenues" refers to those amounts of money that the Company receives from the 

sale and/or delivery of electricity in the Town, after adjusting for refunds, net write-offs of 

accounts, corrections, or Regulatory Adjustments (as defined below).  "Gross Revenues" 

shall exclude any revenue from the sale and/or delivery of electricity to the Town as a 

customer of the Company. 

1.8 "Industrial Customers" refer to those Town customers which meet the criteria under 

applicable "Industrial — Distribution Voltage" and "Industrial – Transmission Voltage" rate 

tariffs for the Company. 

1.9 "Party" or "Parties" refers to and includes the Company and the Town, either singly or 

collectively as the context requires.  

1.10 "Public Project" means (1) any public work or improvement within the Town that is wholly 

or beneficially owned by the Town or is the result of a request and/or required by the Town 

as part of a development application pursuant the Town of Paonia Municipal Code; or (2) 

any public work or improvement within the Town where fifty percent (50%) or more of the 

funding is provided by any combination of the Town, the federal government, the State of 

Colorado, a Colorado county, or other governmental or quasi-governmental entities. For 

purposes of this agreement, "public work or improvement" means any project for the new 

construction or reconstruction of a project such as public buildings; public roads; public 

57



 

3 
 

highways; public streets; publicly owned water mains and sewers; public parks and 

playgrounds; public convention facilities which are financed at least in part with public 

money; jails and prisons; and all other similar publicly-owned works and property. Public 

work or improvement does not include any project done for primarily aesthetic purposes, 

beautification, or view protection. 

1.11 "PUC" refers to and is the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado or other 

state agency succeeding to the regulatory powers of the Public Utilities Commission. 

1.12    "Regulatory Adjustments" refers to any adjustments to the Company's revenues pursuant to 

federal, state or other governmental regulations, including but not limited to, credits, 

surcharges, refunds, and pro-forma adjustments. 

1.13 "Residents" refer to and include all persons, businesses, industry, governmental agencies, 

and any other entity whatsoever, presently located or to be located, in whole or in part, 

within the territorial boundaries of the Town. 

1.14 "Rights-of-Way" refer to and are streets, alleys, viaducts, bridges, roads, lanes, public utility 

easements, and other public rights-of-way and public places in the Town, excluding any 

easement the terms of which do not permit the use thereof by the Company.  The phrase "in 

the Rights-of-Way" shall mean upon, above, under, across, along and within said Rights-of-

Way. 

1.15  "Town" refers to and is the municipal corporation designated as the Town of Paonia, Delta 

County, Colorado, and is the grantor of rights under this Franchise. 

 

1.16 "Uncontrollable Forces" means the inability to undertake an obligation of this Franchise due 

to a cause that could not be reasonably anticipated by a Party or is beyond its reasonable 

control after exercise of reasonable efforts to perform, including, without limitation, 

accidents, breakdown of equipment, acts of God, floods, storms, fires, sabotage, terrorist 

attack, strikes, riots, war, labor disputes, forces of nature, epidemics, pandemics, orders of 

the government or unavailability or shortages of materials or equipment. 

 

1.17 "Utility Service" means the obligation to furnish, sell, and distribute electricity. 

 

ARTICLE 2 

GRANT OF FRANCHISE 

2.1 Grant of Franchise. 

 

(A) The Town grants to the Company, for the period specified in and subject to the 

conditions, terms, and provisions contained in this Franchise: 

 

(1)   The non-exclusive right, and the Company assumes the obligation, to provide 

Utility Service to the Town and to all Residents of the Town.  

58



 

4 
 

(2) The non-exclusive right, and the Company assumes the obligation, to 

acquire, construct, install, locate, maintain, upgrade, operate, and extend into, 

within and through the Town all Facilities reasonably necessary to furnish, 

sell, and distribute electricity within and through the Town.  

(3) The non-exclusive right, and the Company assumes the obligation, to make 

reasonable use in the Rights-of-Way as may be necessary to carry out the 

terms of this Franchise subject to the Town's prior right of usage for 

municipal purposes and subject to applicable laws, ordinances, and 

regulations. These rights and obligations shall extend to all areas of the Town 

as it is now or hereafter constituted. 

(4) The non-exclusive right, and the Company hereby assumes the obligation, to 

provide street lighting service within the Town which shall be governed by 

this Franchise, applicable Town Codes and regulations, and Company's 

tariffs. 

(B) The rights granted by this Franchise are not, and shall not, be deemed to be granted 

exclusively to the Company, and the Town reserves the right to make or grant a 

similar franchise to any other person, firm, or corporation as allowed by law. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Town agrees that the Company is the holder of 

Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity granting the Company an 

exclusive service territory for the distribution of electric service to the Town 

subject to the rules and regulations of the PUC and the Town's rights of eminent 

domain as provided for, and limited by, Article II, Section 15 of Colorado 

Constitution and C.R.S. § 40-9.5-201, et seq. 

(C) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Franchise, the Town retains the 

right to use, control, and regulate, through the exercise of its police power, the use 

of the Rights-of-Way, and the space above and beneath said Rights-of-Way; and the 

Town retains the right to impose such other local codes or administrative regulations 

as may be determined by the Town to be necessary in the exercise of the police power 

to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 

(D) Neither the Town nor the Company waives any rights under the statutes and 

constitution of the State of Colorado or of the United States except as otherwise 

specifically stated in this Franchise. 

(E) This Franchise constitutes a valid and binding contract between the Company and 

the Town. In the event that the Franchise Fee (defined below) is declared illegal, 

unconstitutional, or void for any reason by any court or other proper authority, the 

Company shall be contractually bound to collect and pay monthly rental fees to the 

Town in an aggregate amount that would be, as nearly as practicable, equivalent to 

the amount which would have been paid by the Company as a Franchise Fee as 

consideration for use of the Town's Rights-of-Way. 

59



 

5 
 

(F) Nothing in this Franchise shall prohibit the Company from using its Facilities as 

authorized by applicable laws and regulations, including leasing its Facilities to any 

third-party. The Company shall not take any unilateral action which materially 

changes the mutual promises in this Franchise.   

 

ARTICLE 3 

TERM OF FRANCHISE 

3.1 Term of Franchise.  This Franchise shall take effect on its adoption by the Board of Trustees, 

and shall supersede any prior franchise grants to the Company by the Town relating to the 

Utility Service. Unless terminated prior to twenty (20) years in accordance with other 

provisions of this Franchise, the term of this Franchise shall be for twenty (20) years.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Franchise is not deemed by the Town to be a multi-year 

fiscal obligation.  Nevertheless, any monies required by the Town to be expended under this 

Franchise shall be subject to annual appropriation by the Town.   

 

ARTICLE 4 

FRANCHISE FEE 

4.1 Franchise Fee. 

(A) In consideration for the rights granted in this Franchise, which provide, among other 

things, for the Company's use of the Rights-of-Way, which are valuable public 

properties acquired and maintained by the Town at great expense to its Residents, 

and in recognition that the grant to the Company of the use of those Rights-of-Way, 

and of the right to provide service to the Town's Residents, which are valuable rights, 

the Company shall collect and pay the Town the sums provided in this Section. 

Except as specified in this Franchise, payment of the Franchise Fee shall not exempt 

the Company from any other lawful taxes or fees; however, the Franchise Fee shall 

constitute the exclusive monetary payment by the Company to the Town for the 

Company's use and occupancy of the Rights-of-Way except as specifically provided 

for in this Franchise. 

(B) The Company shall collect from its customers within the Town limits and pay to the 

Town a sum of three percent (3%) of its annual Gross Revenue derived from the sale 

of electricity to Residents, excluding Industrial Customers, within the corporate 

limits of the Town (the "Franchise Fee"). The Company will not collect said 3% 

Franchise Fee from the Town for Utility Service provided directly or indirectly to 

the Town for its own consumption, including street lighting service. 

(C) A transaction or arrangement between the Company and any third-party which has 

the effect of circumventing payment of required Franchise Fees or evasion of 

payment of Franchise Fees by non-collection, non-reporting, or any other means 

which evade the actual collection of revenues by the Company for services delivered 

60



 

6 
 

over the system or businesses the Company pursues derived from the operation of 

the system is prohibited except any such transaction which may be required by law. 

(D) No acceptance of payment by the Town from the Company shall be construed as an 

agreement that the amount paid is the correct amount, nor shall acceptance be 

construed as a release of any claim of which the Town may have for additional sums 

due and payable under this Franchise. 

4.2 Remittance Schedule.  The Company shall remit the Franchise Fee to the Town in monthly 

installments not more than thirty (30) days following the close of each month.  All payments 

shall be made to the Town. In the event that either the Town or the Company discovers that 

there has been an error in the calculation of the Franchise Fee payment to the Town, the 

error shall be corrected in the next monthly payment; except that, in the event an error by 

the Company results in an overpayment of the Franchise Fee to the Town, and said 

overpayment is in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), credit for the overpayment 

shall be spread over the same period the error was undiscovered. If the overpayment is less 

than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), credit shall be taken against the next payment. In no 

event shall either Party be required to credit or pay any under- or overpayment which 

occurred more than three (3) years prior to the discovery of the error.  Underpayments shall 

be subject to up to 1 ½% interest per month until paid or credited in full. 

4.3 Franchise Fee Payment not in Lieu of Permit or Other Fees. Payment of the Franchise Fee 

by the Company is accepted by the Town in lieu of any utility occupation tax or any rental 

fee, for the Company's use or occupation of Town's Rights-of-Way, or for the installation, 

operation and maintenance of Company Facilities. Payment of the Franchise Fee does not 

exempt the Company from any other lawful tax or fee, including any fee for an excavation 

permit, street cut permit, or similar requirement. 

4.4  Changes in Town Boundaries.  The Town shall reasonably notify the Company in writing 

of annexations (or de-annexation) of property into (or out of) the domain of the Town so 

that DMEA may appropriately adjust its collection of the Franchise Fee from Residents 

within the Town limits.  Any amounts received for Utility Services provided to customers 

within the new Town limits will be included in the Gross Revenues no later than ninety (90) 

days after such written notice.  The Company shall not be required to retroactively collect 

or pay any Franchise Fees on such Utility Services from Residents in any annexed area of 

the Town if the Town fails to provide written notice of the annexation to the Company.  

 

ARTICLE 5 

MODIFICATION OF FRANCHISE FEE 

5.1 Change of Franchise Fee and Other Terms. In recognition of the length of the term of this 

Franchise, and in further recognition of the possibility of legislative and/or regulatory 

amendments which may allow for the wheeling of electricity through Facilities owned by 

the Company and located within the Town, the Parties agree that in the event of such 

61



 

7 
 

legislative or regulatory amendments, or in any unexpected event which would result in a 

significant decrease in fees collected on behalf of the Town, the Company and the Town 

may agree to modify the computation of the Franchise Fee.  Said modified computation may 

be based upon volume of electricity delivered rather than the percentage of revenue, at the 

Town's discretion.  The Parties agree, to the extent permitted by law, to cooperate in 

modifying section 4.1(B) of this Franchise to assure that the Company collects, and the 

Town receives the Franchise Fees or some other form that is at least the same amount as the 

Franchise Fees collected by the Company as of the effective date of this Franchise, and for 

any increases in usage. 

 In the event that the computation of the Franchise Fee is modified and based upon volume 

of electricity delivered in accordance with the provisions of this Franchise, both Parties 

agree that, to the extent allowable by law, the Company shall be responsible for the 

collection of such Franchise Fee as measured against the total amount of kilowatt-hour 

consumption of electricity in each month by each Resident, from all electric providers and/or 

distributors.  Both Parties further agree that such volumetric computation shall be subject to 

annual adjustment to reflect inflation in accordance with a mutually acceptable price index. 

Modification of the Franchise Fee as provided herein is an express term of this Agreement.  

 

ARTICLE 6 

DISCLOSURE OF RECORDS 

6.1 Town Information Rights. 

(A) The Town or its designated representative or agent, shall have access to the books 

and records of the Company relevant for the purpose of ascertaining compliance with 

the terms of this Franchise during normal business hours upon reasonable notice.  

The Town may use such information for the purposes of enforcing its laws, 

ordinances, and regulations.  Nothing in this Franchise shall exempt the Company 

from any other requirements regarding the production of information as provided in 

the laws, ordinances and regulations of the Town. 

(B) To the extent allowable by law, the Company shall supply the Town with all of the 

following information annually without cost to the Town: 

(1) Annual reports, including but not limited to, its annual report to its 

consumers; and 

(2)  Annual financial summaries of the revenues collected within the Town 

during the previous year.  

(C) To the extent allowable by law and reasonably available, the Company shall supply 

the Town with all of the following information upon written request: 

62



 

8 
 

(1)  Copies of the official minutes of Board of Directors meetings for the previous 

year;  

(2) A summary of conversions and replacements within the Town which have 

been accomplished or are underway by the Company, if applicable;  

(3)  The Company's plans for additional conversions and replacements within the 

Town, if applicable;  

(4)  Copies of tariffs including but not limited to all tariffs, rules, regulations, and 

policies relating to service by the Company to the Town and its Residents;  

(5)  Copies of supporting documentation for the calculation of the Franchise Fee;  

(6)  An inventory of the Company's Facilities within the Town; and 

(7)  Annual and long-term reports for capital improvements planned within the 

Town. 

6.2 Enforcement of Town Ordinances.  The Town may use the Company's metered information 

obtained from audits for the purposes of enforcing its laws, ordinances, and regulations. 

6.3 Protection of Confidential Information.  Except as expressly authorized in this Franchise, or 

as may be considered a public record under Colorado law, all information obtained by the 

Town pursuant to this Section 6 shall be kept confidential and shall be utilized for the sole 

purpose of verifying that the Franchise Fee has been correctly computed and paid.  

 

ARTICLE 7 

    RATES 

7.1 General Provisions.  Rates charged by the Company for service provided pursuant to this 

Franchise shall be fair and reasonable.  The Company agrees that it shall be subject to all 

authority now or hereafter possessed by any regulatory body having jurisdiction to fix just, 

reasonable, and compensatory electric rates.  The Company further agrees that the system 

shall be so designed, constructed, and sources of electricity utilized as to provide the most 

economic development and favorable rate structure possible while taking into account 

deliverability of electricity and other pertinent design conditions which maintain high safety 

and service reliability standards. 

7.2 Comparable rates.  For each rate category within the Company's service area, the rates 

charged to customers within the Town shall be no higher than the lowest rates charged to 

the Company's customers in the same rate category, excluding franchise fees, rental fees, 

surcharges and other taxes, if applicable. 

7.3 Rates applicable to Town Street Lighting and Town-owned facilities.  Rates charged to the 

Town by the Company for street lighting and Town-owned facilities shall be no higher than 

63



 

9 
 

the lowest rates charged to the Company's customers for the same rate category, excluding 

franchise fees, rental fees, surcharges and other taxes, if applicable. 

 

ARTICLE 8 

SUPPLY, CONSTRUCTION AND DESIGN 

8.1 Supply; Reliability. 

(A) The Company shall at all times take all reasonable and necessary steps to assure the 

adequate supply, transmission, and distribution of electricity to the Town and its 

Residents at the lowest reasonable cost consistent with the terms of this Franchise. 

In addition, the Company shall operate its Facilities pursuant to the highest 

practicable level of service quality and reliability in providing electricity to the Town 

and its Residents. The Company recognizes that maintaining service reliability is a 

substantial obligation under this Franchise. Upon the Town's request, the Company 

will provide the Town copies of service reliability reports.  

(B) If the supply, transmission, or distribution of electricity to the Town or any Resident 

is interrupted, the Company shall take all necessary and reasonable actions to restore 

such supply in the shortest practicable time. If the supply of electricity is to be 

interrupted due to a planned outage, except in cases of emergency outage repair, the 

Company shall take adequate reasonable efforts to notify its customers and the Town 

in advance. The Company shall keep on file in its office and/or on its website, copies 

of its rate schedules, standards for service, rules, policies, and regulations 

concurrently in effect or filed with the PUC or other competent authority having 

jurisdiction in the premises, which copies shall be made available to the Town and 

its Residents upon written request. 

(C) The Company shall provide to the Town telephone numbers of the Company's 

dispatch center that will permit the Town to obtain status reports from the Company 

on a twenty-four hour basis concerning interruptions of the supply of electricity in 

any portion of the Town. The Town agrees that any non-published Company 

telephone numbers shall be considered confidential and not disclosed to any third-

parties, to the extent permitted by law.  

8.2    Obligations Regarding Company Facilities. 

(A) All work by the Company shall be done: 

(1) in a high-quality manner; 

(2) in a timely and expeditious manner; 

(3) in a manner which minimizes inconvenience to the public and individuals; 

(4) in a cost-effective manner, which may include the use of qualified private 

contractors; and 

64



 

10 
 

(5) in accordance with Company policies and procedures but all times subject 

to applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations.  

(B) The installation, repair, or maintenance of Company Facilities shall not interfere 

with other uses of the Rights-of-Way, including but not limited to water facilities, 

sanitary or storm sewer facilities, communication facilities.  Interference with private 

property, landscaping and other natural features shall be minimized.  Company will 

use reasonable efforts to not unduly interfere with the rights or reasonable 

convenience of property owners who adjoin the Rights -of-Way.   

(C) The Company shall promptly repair all damage caused by Company activities or 

Facilities within the Town to substantially its former condition. If such damage poses 

a threat to the health, safety, or welfare of the public or individuals, the Town may 

cause repairs to be made, and the Company shall promptly reimburse the Town for 

the reasonable cost of such repairs.  The Company shall undertake this repair of the 

Rights-of-Way at its own expense, restoring any damage or disturbance as a result 

of its operation, construction, or maintenance of the Facilities to a condition 

reasonably comparable to the condition of the Rights-of-Way immediately prior to 

such damage or disturbance, in a workmanlike manner subject to the approval by the 

Town, and in accordance with the Town Municipal Code.  The Company shall use 

due care not to interfere with or damage any water mains, sewers, or other structures 

now in place or which may hereafter be placed in the Rights-of-Way, and the 

Company shall, at its own expense, repair in a workmanlike manner subject to the 

approval of the Town and in accordance with the provisions of the Town Municipal 

Code, any such water mains, sewers, or other structures which are damaged through 

the action of the Company, provided, however, that the Town may make such repairs 

and charge the reasonable cost thereof to the Company.  Except as otherwise 

specifically provided herein, the Town retains the right to use, control, and regulate, 

through the exercise of its police power, the use of streets, and other public ways and 

places, and the Town retains the right to impose such other regulations as may be 

determined by the Town to be necessary in the exercise of the police power to protect 

the health, safety and welfare of the public.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

in this Franchise, provided that the Company has followed its requirements under 

Colorado's 811 "call-before-you-dig" law, the Company shall not be responsible for 

the repair or cost of any damages due to an improperly identified locate or an 

unidentified water main, sewer, or other structure. 

(D) All non-electrical work performed by the Company is subject to inspection, by the 

Town and a determination by the Town that said work has been performed in 

accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations of the Town. The 

Company shall promptly perform reasonable remedial action required by the Town 

pursuant to any such inspection. The Company shall have the authority under this 

Franchise to cut, prune, and/or remove vegetation in accordance with its standard 

vegetation management requirements and procedures.  Upon request by the Town 

and in accordance with Company’s applicable policies, Company will provide as-

65



 

11 
 

built drawings, but only if such drawings exist, for Company Facilities in the Rights-

of-Way.   

(E) Except in emergency situations, where the installation, upgrade or replacement of 

any Facilities in the Rights-of-Way by or on behalf of the Company requires 

relocation of Company Facilities in the Rights-of-Way, the location shall be subject 

to inspection and approval by the Town; provided that, the Town agrees that such 

location shall be consistent with the current location of any upgrade or replacement 

of any existing Facilities, for example, overhead Facilities shall remain overhead and 

underground Facilities shall remain underground. Such inspection and approval may 

include, but not be limited to, the following matters implicated by relocation of 

Facilities in the Rights-of-Way: cutting and trimming of trees and shrubs and 

disturbance of pavements, sidewalks, and surfaces of streets.  

(F) The Company and all of its contractors shall comply with all applicable Town laws, 

ordinances, and regulations. The Company shall require its contractors working in 

the Rights-of-Way to hold the necessary licenses and permits required by the Town 

and other entities having jurisdiction. 

(G) The Company shall provide, when available, as-built drawings in digital formats and 

providing such details as reasonably requested by the Town in accordance with 

Company’s applicable policies, of each Company Facility which exists within the 

Town. 

8.3 Excavation and Construction. The Company shall be responsible for obtaining all applicable 

permits, including any excavation and/or street cut permits, in the manner required by the 

laws, ordinances, and regulations of the Town. All public and private property whose use 

conforms to restrictions in public easements disturbed by Company construction or 

excavation activities shall be restored by the Company at its expense to substantially its 

former condition according to then existing Town laws, ordinances, and regulations. 

8.4 Relocation of Company Facilities. 

(A) Except as provided in 8.4(B) below, relocation of electric Facilities installed or 

maintained in the Rights-of-Way or Town property pursuant to this Franchise or any 

previous franchises shall be made by the Company at its expense, if at any time the 

Town requests the Company to relocate the same in order to permit the construction 

of a Public Project. 

(B)   The provisions of 8.4(A) above are intended to be applied to Public Projects only.  

The provisions shall not apply, and the Company shall not be responsible for, 

payment of costs associated with relocation of Facilities when the following apply: 

(1) relocation of the Facilities is primarily for aesthetic purposes, beautification 

or view protection; or 

66



 

12 
 

(2) relocation involves Facilities owned by the Company in privately held 

easements, including without limitation, Facilities located in prescriptive 

easements benefitting the Company; or 

(3) relocation involves existing underground utilities properly located within 

public easements according to Town specifications, if such relocation is not 

necessary to the Public Project. 

(C) The Company shall complete such relocations as soon as practicable from the date 

when the Town makes its request, but in any event within 90 days after such request; 

except that the Company may be granted an extension of time for completion 

equivalent to any delay caused by conditions not under its control.  Upon written 

request, the Town may extend the period of time for completion of a relocation where 

the scope of the relocation and/or existing circumstances makes a 90-day completion 

time unreasonable.  In such cases, the Town's consent to a longer completion time 

shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned. 

(D) When requested by the Town or the Company, representatives of the Town and the 

Company shall meet to share information regarding anticipated Town projects that 

will require relocation of Company Facilities. Such meetings shall be for the purpose 

of providing both Parties the opportunity to, in good faith, evaluate reasonable 

alternatives and/or cost saving measures in an attempt to minimize the fiscal impact 

upon the Company from the proposed relocation, and establish timetables with 

anticipated commencement and completion dates. 

(E) Following relocation, all property shall be restored to substantially its former 

condition by the Company at its expense (or at Town's expense in accordance with 

Section 12.1) in accordance with then existing Town laws, ordinances, and 

regulations. 

(F) The Town shall use its best efforts to obtain funding for utility relocations in 

connection with Public Projects receiving federal or state funds.  When public funds 

are utilized for the purposes of utility relocation, the Town shall utilize said funds 

for Company utility relocations in a manner consistent with other utility relocations.  

(G) No expenses pursuant to this article paid or reimbursed shall be surcharged 

specifically against Residents of the Town.  

8.5 Service to New Areas. If the boundaries of the Town are expanded during the term of this 

Franchise, the Company shall extend service to Residents in the expanded area at the earliest 

practicable time and in accordance with the Company's extension policy. Service to the 

expanded area shall be in accordance with the terms of this Franchise, including payment of 

Franchise Fees. 

8.6 Town Not Required to Advance Funds. Upon receipt of the Town's authorization for billing 

and construction, the Company shall extend its Facilities to provide Utility Service to the 

Town for municipal uses within the Town limits or for any major municipal facility outside 

the Town limits, and within the Company's certificated service area, without requiring the 

67



 

13 
 

Town to advance funds prior to construction. Upon completion, the Town shall pay all 

invoices within 30 days of receipt. 

8.7 Technological Improvements. 

(A) The Company shall generally introduce and install, as soon as practicable, 

technological advances in its equipment and Utility Service within the Town when 

such advances are technically and economically feasible and are safe and beneficial 

to the Town and its Residents.  

(B) While maintaining flexibility in the provision of Utility Services, the Company's 

system shall, at all times, be no less advanced than any other system operated by the 

Company within the Company's service area; provided, however, should an upgrade 

of the Utility Services provided to customers within the Town be requested by the 

Town Board of Trustees, the Company shall have the right to meet, confer, and 

negotiate with the Town concerning the economic practicality of such an upgrade, 

giving due consideration to the remaining term of the Franchise and other reasonable 

incentives.  The Company shall submit to the Town related information upon the 

Town Board of Trustees' request, including, but not limited to a plan for provision of 

such services, or a justification indicating the reason(s) such services are not feasible 

for the Company's customers within the Town.  Company retains the right to make 

the final decision as to the technological improvements and/or upgrades made by the 

Company. 

8.8 Scope of Activities Authorized By Franchise. The provisions of this Franchise apply 

specifically to electric services, including telecommunications relating to electric services. 

Nothing in this agreement precludes the Company from engaging in any other lawful 

activities that are not subject to franchise agreements. 

8.9  Service Standards.  Upon reasonable written request of the Town in accordance with the 

Company's information request policy and subject to applicable confidentiality protections, 

the Company shall use reasonable efforts to prepare and submit (no more than annually) to 

the Town a map, in format reasonably determined by Company, showing the reasonable 

depiction of the location of the Company''s systems within the Town of Paonia.   

8.10  No Discrimination. The Company shall not deny service, deny access, or otherwise 

discriminate against Residents on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age or 

sex. 

ARTICLE 9 

COMPLIANCE 

9.1 Town Regulation. The Town expressly reserves, and the Company expressly recognizes, the 

Town's right and duty to adopt, from time to time, in addition to the provisions herein 

contained, such laws, ordinances, and regulations deemed necessary by the Town in the 

exercise of its police power for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens. 

The Company shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations of the 

68



 

14 
 

Town, including but not limited to all Town building and zoning codes, and requirements 

regarding curb and pavement cuts, excavating, digging, and other construction activities. 

9.2 Town Review of Plans. Prior to construction of any significant electric Facilities such as 

transmission lines and substations within the Town, or of a building or other structure within 

the Town, the Company shall furnish to the Town the plans and a description of the proposed 

location of such Facilities, building, or structure. In addition, upon request by the Town, the 

Company shall assess and report on the impact of its proposed construction on the Town 

environment. Such plans and reports may be reviewed by the Town to ensure that all 

applicable laws, including building and zoning codes and air and water pollution 

requirements, are met, that aesthetic and good planning principles have been given due 

consideration, and that adverse impact on the environment has been minimized. The 

Company shall comply with all regulatory requirements of the Town and shall incorporate 

all other reasonable changes requested by the Town. 

9.3 Inspection. The Town shall have the right to inspect, at all reasonable times, any portion of 

the Company's Facilities in the Town's Rights-of-Way. The Company agrees to cooperate 

with the Town in conducting the inspection and to correct any safety issues affecting the 

Town's interest in a prompt and efficient manner. Said inspection shall be performed only 

by qualified inspectors working under a professional engineer's license. 

 

ARTICLE 10 

USE OF COMPANY FACILITIES 

10.1 Town Use. The Town shall be permitted to make all reasonable use of the Company's 

distribution poles and street lighting poles for any Town purpose so long as such use 

complies with appropriate safety codes, including the Company's safety regulations. To the 

extent permitted by law, said use shall be without cost to the Town so long as such use does 

not unreasonably interfere with the Company's use of its Facilities for distribution of 

electricity or telecommunications services or create a hazard. The Town shall be responsible 

for all costs, including maintenance costs, associated with any modifications to the 

Company's Facilities to accommodate the Town's use of such Facilities. To the extent 

permitted by law, the Town shall hold harmless and indemnify the Company for the Town 

and its employees, agents, and representatives acts or failures to act related to the Town's 

use of Company's Facilities.  

10.2 Non-Competitor's Use.   The Company shall allow telecommunications companies and/or 

cable companies who hold a franchise or encroachment permit from the Town to utilize the 

Company's distribution poles and other suitable overhead structures for the placement of 

their facilities based upon the Company's joint use pole attachment agreement, so long as 

such terms and conditions are not inconsistent with the Company's obligations under this 

Franchise.  The Company shall not be required to assume any liability nor to be put to any 

additional expense in connection with any such use; nor be required to permit any such use 

for the distribution of electricity.  No such use shall be required if it would constitute a safety 

69



 

15 
 

hazard or would unreasonably interfere with the Company's existing or documented future 

use of the same. 

10.3 Competitor's Use.  If the Company chooses, or is required by law, to transport electricity 

supplied by other entities over the Company's Facilities to Town Residents, such 

transportation shall not be prohibited under this Franchise.  The Company shall periodically 

report to the Town a list of all entities for which the Company is providing such transport 

services, and to the extent allowable by law the names and addresses of each such entity and 

each Town Resident to whom electricity is transported, and the amount of electricity 

transported by the Company for each such entity.  Nothing in this Franchise shall preclude 

the Town from collecting from such entities or Residents all applicable taxes and fees 

required by the Town's laws, ordinances, and regulations. 

10.4 Emergency Use.  In the case of any emergency or disaster, the Company shall, upon 

reasonable request of the Town, make available its Facilities for emergency use during the 

emergency or the disaster period. Such use of Company Facilities shall be of a limited 

duration and will only be allowed if the use does not interfere with the Company's own use 

of its Facilities occasioned by such emergency or disaster. To the extent permitted by law, 

the Town shall hold harmless and indemnify the Company for the Town and its employees, 

agents, and representatives acts or failures to act related to such use of Company's Facilities. 

10.5 Trenches Available for Town Use. The Town and Company agree that it is in the best 

interest of the community for the Town and Company to share and combine Company 

Facilities and Town facilities in common trenches, ductways, etc. The Company and Town 

agree to work together to see that such facilities are combined to minimize impacts to the 

community. The Town's installation of its facilities shall not interfere with the Company's 

Facilities or delay the commencement or completion of the Company's construction 

projects. 

 

ARTICLE 11 

INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TOWN 

11.1     Town Held Harmless. 

(A) The Company shall construct, maintain, and operate its Facilities in a manner which 

provides reasonable protection against injury or damage to persons or property; 

provided, however, said obligation of the Company shall not increase or decrease its 

liability on third-party claims. 

(B) The Company shall save the Town, its officers, boards, commissions, agents, and 

employees, harmless and indemnify the Town from and against all liability or 

damage and all claims or demands whatsoever in nature, and reimburse the Town 

for all its reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, arising out of the operations 

of the Company within the Town and the securing of and the exercise by the 

Company of the rights granted in this Franchise, including any third-party claims, 

70



 

16 
 

administrative hearings and litigation. Notwithstanding anything in this Franchise to 

the contrary, the Company shall not be obligated to indemnify or hold the Town 

harmless to the extent any claim, demand or liability arises out of, or in connection 

with, any intentional or negligent act or failure to act of the Town or any of its 

officials, agents or employees, or the extent that any claim, demand or liability arises 

out of, or in connection with, the use of any facilities of the Town. 

(C) The indemnification extended pursuant to this Franchise shall include delay damages 

as that term is contemplated in C.R.S. § 24-91-103.5 et seq., as amended from time 

to time, or any successor law thereto, awarded against the Town in favor of 

contractors for damages incurred by contractors for delays experienced in the 

performance of public works contracts entered into with the Town; provided, 

however, that said indemnification shall extend only to those delays in performance 

of public works contracts for which the Company either agrees it is responsible or 

which were caused as the result, in whole or in part, of the acts or omissions of the 

Company in the performance of its obligations under this Franchise. Unless the 

Company otherwise agrees in writing, in no event shall the Company be required to 

indemnify the Town for any delay damages awarded against the Town unless and 

until a final determination has been made by a court of competent jurisdiction that 

the delay damages suffered by a contractor were the result of the acts or omissions 

of the Company acting on behalf of or within the Town's control. Nothing contained 

in this Franchise shall be construed as an acknowledgment by the Parties that the 

Company, in exercising its rights and obligations under this Franchise, is an entity 

controlled by, subject to the control of or acting on behalf of the Town for the 

purposes of C.R.S. § 24-91-103.5, et seq. 

(D) In the event of litigation for a breach of this Franchise or for an interpretation of this 

Franchise, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed for all costs related thereto, 

including reasonable attorney's fees by the non-prevailing party. 

(E) Notwithstanding any provision in this Franchise to the contrary, the Company shall 

not be obligated to indemnify, defend or hold the Town harmless in any manner 

inconsistent with the doctrine of comparative negligence in Colorado. 

11.2 Notice to Company. The Town will provide prompt written notice to the Company of the 

pendency of any claim or action against the Town arising out of the exercise by the Company 

of its Franchise rights. The Company will be permitted, at its own expense, to appear and 

defend or to assist in defense of such claim. 

11.3 Financial Responsibility. At the Town's request, but not more frequently than annually, the 

Company shall submit to the Town, as a confidential document, proof of its ability to meet 

its obligations under this Franchise, including its ability to indemnify the Town as required 

by this Article. This proof may take the form of insurance coverage, adequate funding of 

self-insurance, or the provision of a bond. The Company shall supply the Town with a list 

of its insurance companies with the types of coverage, but not levels of insurance; provided 

however, that during the term of this Franchise, the Company will maintain and carry, 

subject to appropriate levels of self-insurance, at least the following types and amounts of 

71



 

17 
 

insurance coverage: (i) commercial general liability with limits no less than $1,000,000 for 

each occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate; (ii) worker's compensation with limits no 

less that the minimum amount required by applicable law, (iii) commercial automobile 

liability with limits no less than $1,000,000, combined single limit; and (iv) umbrella 

(excess) liability, with limits no less than $5,000,000. The Town may require, from time to 

time, and the Company agrees to provide, additional reasonable funding of the Company's 

indemnification obligations as a self-insured, if the Company is acting as a self-insurer.  

11.4 Payment of Ordinance Expenses. At the Town's option, the Company shall reimburse the 

Town for reasonable and proportionate expenses incurred in publication of ordinances and 

initial implementation of this Franchise, with such costs not to exceed $500.  No such 

expenses paid or reimbursed shall be surcharged specifically against residents of the Town. 

 

ARTICLE 12 

UNDERGROUNDING OF OVERHEAD FACILITIES 

12.1     Undergrounding of Facilities at Expense of Town.  Upon request by the Town, the Company 

agrees to underground existing overhead Facilities at the Town's expense, except when 

relocation is otherwise required in accordance with the provisions of § 8.4(A), in which case 

the cost to relocate the Facilities underground shall be paid by the Town, reduced by the 

cost of construction had the Facilities been relocated above ground.  

12.2 Cooperation with Other Utilities.   When undertaking a project of undergrounding, the Town 

and the Company shall coordinate with other utilities or companies which have their 

facilities above ground to attempt to have all facilities undergrounded as part of the same 

project.  When other utilities or companies are placing their facilities underground, the 

Company shall cooperate with these utilities and companies and undertake to underground 

Company facilities as part of the same project where feasible.   

12.3 Review and Planning for Undergrounding Projects.  The Town and the Company shall 

mutually plan in advance the scheduling of approved undergrounding projects to be 

undertaken according to this Article as a part of the review and planning for other Company 

construction projects.  The Town and the Company agree to meet, as required, to review the 

progress of the current undergrounding projects and to review planned future 

undergrounding projects.  The Company agrees to use due diligence to see that approved 

undergrounding projects are, to the extent reasonably practicable, completed prior to the 

expiration of this Franchise.  The Company need not approve an undergrounding project if 

it would create a significant risk to safety or operational integrity, but it shall provide to the 

Town written notification of any such non-approval and the grounds, therefore. 

 

ARTICLE 13 

TRANSFER OF FRANCHISE 

13.1 Consent of Town Required.  The Company shall not sell, re-sell, transfer, assign or convey 

any rights under this Franchise, to any unaffiliated third-party, including any merger with 

such unaffiliated third-party, nor undergo any corporate reorganization or other change 

72



 

18 
 

which would result in any modification of the Company's obligations under this Franchise, 

without first obtaining written approval of the Town; provided, however, that this condition 

shall not be construed to restrict or prevent the issuance of bonds, debentures, or other 

evidence of indebtedness, or the issuance of additional stock, needed or useful for the 

purpose of financing the system or any portion thereof.   Should the Company sell, assign, 

transfer, convey, or otherwise dispose of its rights or interests under this Franchise, without 

the proper approval, the Town may revoke this Franchise.  Upon revocation, all rights and 

interests of the Company under this Franchise shall cease.  For the purposes of this Section, 

a change of control of the Company is a transfer.   

 

ARTICLE 14 

MUNICIPALIZATION 

14.1 Town's Right To Purchase Or Condemn. 

(A) The right of the Town to construct, purchase, or condemn any public utility works 

or ways, and the Facilities and rights of the Company in connection therewith, as 

provided by the Colorado Constitution and statutes, is expressly reserved, and may 

be exercised by the Town only in accordance with such statutes and law in effect as 

of the date of this Franchise, including Article II, Section 15 of Colorado 

Constitution and C.R.S. § 40-9.5-201, et seq.  

(B) The Company understands and agrees that the right of the Town to construct, 

purchase, or condemn any public utility works or ways, and the Facilities and rights 

of the Company in connection therewith, as provided for, and limited by, Article II, 

Section 15 of Colorado Constitution and C.R.S. § 31-15-707 et seq., with the amount 

of compensation as provided by C.R.S. § 40-9.5-201 et seq., are hereby expressly 

reserved, and that such right may be exercised at any time by the Town. 

(C) In the event the Town exercises its option to purchase or condemn, the Company 

agrees that it will continue to maintain its Facilities and to supply any service it 

supplies under this Franchise, in whole or in part, at the Town's request, for up to a 

twenty-four month period after the Town has either purchased or condemned the 

Company's Facilities or alternative arrangements have been made.  Both Parties will 

exercise due diligence to wind up the affairs as soon as practical. 

(D) The Company shall cooperate with the Town by making available such records as 

will enable the Town to evaluate the feasibility of acquisition of Company Facilities.  

The Company shall not be required to conduct studies or accrue data without 

reimbursement by the Town but shall make such studies if reimbursed its costs for 

the same.  The Company shall take no action, which could inhibit the Town's ability 

to effectively or efficiently use the acquired Facilities. 

(E) Notice of Intent to Purchase or Condemn.  Unless the Town and Company agree 

otherwise, the Town shall provide the Company no less than one (1) year's prior 

73



 

19 
 

written notice of its intent to purchase or condemn Company Facilities.  Nothing in 

this Section shall be deemed or construed to constitute a consent by the Company to 

the Town's purchase or condemnation of Company Facilities, nor a waiver of any 

Company defenses or challenges related thereto. 

14.2 Negotiated Purchase Price or Condemnation Award.  If the Town desires to purchase 

Company Facilities and if the Company desires to sell such Facilities, the Parties shall 

negotiate in good faith to determine a mutually acceptable purchase price in accordance with 

C.R.S.§ 31-15-707 (to the extent it is not in conflict with C.R.S. §40-9.5-204), and C.R.S. § 

40-9.5-204, as such statute was in effect as of the date of this Franchise, for up to ninety (90) 

days; said purchase price shall exclude the value of this Franchise. If agreement is not 

reached, the Town and the Company reserve all rights to assert their respective positions 

with respect to the steps the Town would need to take to condemn Company Facilities; 

however, no award shall be made for the value of this Franchise. 

14.3 Town-Produced Electricity. The Company understands and agrees that the Town expressly 

reserves the right to obtain or produce electricity for its own purposes and wholesale 

transactions, and the Town may exercise that right at any time. The Company shall not 

curtail wholesale purchases of Town-generated electricity. 

14.4 Purchase of Real Property of Company by Town. If at any time during the term of this 

Franchise, the Company proposes to sell or dispose of any of its real property held in fee 

simple located in whole or in part in the Town, it shall grant to the Town the right of first 

refusal to purchase the same. Nothing in this provision shall preclude the Company from 

disposing of its real property in a timely fashion. 

14.5 Purchase or Condemnation of Street Lighting System. The provisions of this Article apply 

with full and equal force to the purchase or condemnation by the Town of all or a portion of 

the street lighting service provided by the Company, including all or a portion of any 

Company owned street lighting facilities, equipment, system, and plant. The Company 

understands and agrees that the Town may choose to so purchase or condemn such street 

lighting service at any time; provided that any such condemnation is in accordance with the 

law. 

14.6 Exercise of Rights Under This Article. The Town recognizes that when the Company 

evaluated the economic feasibility of withdrawing from its previous wholesale electric 

service contract, the Company reasonably expected that it would continue long-term Utility 

Service within the Town's municipal boundaries until at least March 1, 2033. In light of this 

expectation and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Franchise, the Town agrees 

that if it exercises any of its rights under this Article 14 prior to March 1, 2033, then the 

Town will compensate the Company for decreased Utility Service sales to address the 

Company's revenue shortfall that would otherwise not exist through that 2033 date. In the 

case of purchase or condemnation before March 1, 2033, the Town and Company agree that 

such amount shall be added to the purchase price calculation in Section 14.2 and is part of 

the fair market value for any such purchase or condemnation. 

74



 

20 
 

 

ARTICLE 15 

BREACH 

15.1 Breach.  Except as otherwise provided in this Franchise, if a Party (the "Breaching Party") 

to this Franchise fails or refuses to perform any of the terms or conditions of this Franchise 

(a "Breach"), the other Party (the "Non-Breaching Party") may provide written notice to the 

Breaching Party of such Breach.  Upon receipt of such notice, the Breaching Party shall be 

given a reasonable time, not to exceed ninety (90) days in which to remedy the Breach or, 

if such Breach cannot be remedied in ninety (90) days, such additional time as reasonably 

needed to remedy the Breach, but not exceeding an additional ninety (90) day period, or 

such other time as the Parties may agree.  If the Breaching Party does not remedy the Breach 

within the time allowed in the notice, the Non-Breaching Party may exercise any legal rights 

or remedies available at law, including without limitation, specific performance of the 

applicable term or condition to the extent allowed by law and recovery of actual damages, 

but excluding any special, punitive or consequential damages.  

15.2 Other Legal Remedies.  Nothing in this Franchise shall limit or restrict any legal rights or 

remedies that either Party may possess arising from any alleged violation of this Franchise. 

15.3 Continued Obligations.  Upon termination of the Franchise, the Company shall continue to 

provide Utility Service to the Town and its Residents (and shall continue to have associated 

rights and grants needed to provide such service) until the Town makes alternative 

arrangements for such service and until otherwise ordered by the PUC and the Company 

shall be entitled to collect from Residents and, upon the Town complying with applicable 

provisions of law, shall be obligated to pay the Town, at the same times and in the same 

manner as provided in this Franchise, an aggregate amount equal to the amount which the 

Company would have paid as a Franchise Fee as consideration for use of the Rights-of-Way.  

Unless otherwise provided by law, the Company shall be entitled to collect such amount 

from Residents. 

ARTICLE 16 

APPROVAL; AMENDMENTS 

16.1 Approval of Franchise.  The Company shall promptly file, in writing, its acceptance of this 

Franchise upon approval of this ordinance by the Town Board of Trustees.  

16.2 Terms Impacted by Legislative and Regulatory Changes.  The Town and the Company 

recognize that the electric utility industry is the subject of numerous restructuring initiatives 

by legislative and regulatory authorities. Some of the initiatives and changes may have an 

effect upon the terms that would be adverse to the customers within the Town and/or of the 

Company.  In the event of such regulatory changes, the Town and the Company may need 

to amend various provisions of this Franchise and agree to negotiate in good faith in reaching 

such amendments. 

75



 

21 
 

16.3 Proposed Amendments.  At any time during the term of this Franchise, the Town or the 

Company may propose amendments to this Franchise by giving thirty (30) days written 

notice to the other of the proposed amendment(s) desired, and both Parties thereafter, 

through their designated representatives, will, within a reasonable time, negotiate in good 

faith in an effort to agree upon mutually satisfactory amendment(s).  However, nothing 

contained in this Section shall be deemed to require either Party to consent to any 

amendment proposed by the other Party.  

 

ARTICLE 17 

MISCELLANEOUS 

17.1 No Waiver. Neither the Town nor the Company shall be excused from complying with any 

of the terms and conditions of this Franchise by any failure of the other, or any of its officers, 

employees, or agents, upon any one or more occasions, to insist upon or to seek compliance 

with any such terms and conditions. Neither the Town or Company waives any rights under 

statutes or the Constitution of the State of Colorado or of the United States except as 

otherwise specifically set forth in this Franchise.  

17.2 Successors and Assigns. The rights, privileges, and obligations, in whole or in part, granted 

and contained in this Franchise shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the 

Company, its successors and assigns, to the extent that such successors or assigns have 

succeeded to or been assigned the rights of the Company pursuant to Article 13. 

17.3  Third-Parties. Nothing contained in this Franchise shall be construed to provide rights or 

remedies to third-parties. 

 

17.4 Notice. The Company and the Town shall designate the persons to whom notices shall be 

sent regarding any action to be taken under this Franchise. All Notice shall be in writing and 

forwarded by mail or hand delivery to the persons and addresses as stated below, unless 

changed by written notice given to the other. Until change is made, notices shall be sent as 

follows: 

To the Town: 

Mayor 

  PO Box 460 

                        214 Grand Avenue 

  Paonia, CO 81428 

 

To the Company: 

Chief Executive Officer 

11925 6300 Road 

Montrose, Colorado 81401 

 

 

17.5 Severability. Should any one or more provisions of this Franchise be determined to be illegal 

or unenforceable, all other provisions nevertheless shall remain effective; provided, 

however, the Parties shall enter into good faith negotiations and proceed with due diligence 

to draft a substitute term which will achieve the original intent of the Parties. 

17.6  Entire Agreement. This Franchise constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect 

to the matters contained in this Franchise and supersedes any and all prior written or oral 

76



 

22 
 

agreements, negotiations, correspondence, understandings and communications with 

respect to this Franchise. 

17.7  Construction and Enforcement. Colorado law shall apply to the construction and 

enforcement of this Franchise.  The Parties agree that any litigation arising out of this 

Franchise shall be in the District Court of Delta County, Colorado. 

17.8 Uncontrollable Forces.  Neither Town nor the Company shall be in breach of this Franchise 

if a failure to perform any of the duties under this Franchise is due to Uncontrollable Forces. 

17.9 Earlier Franchises Superseded.  This Franchise shall constitute the only franchise between 

the Town and the Company related to the furnishing of Utility Service, and it supersedes 

and cancels all former electric franchises between the Parties. 

 

 Executed this ____ day of ____________, 2021, to be effective _________________.  

 

Company: 

 

Delta-Montrose Electric Association, a 

Colorado cooperative electric association 

 

 

By: ____________________________ 

       ________________, CEO 

 

Town: 

 

Town of Paonia, Delta County, Colorado 

 

 

By: ____________________________ 

       Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

 

77



 

May 20, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Ordinance 2021-03 Board of Appeals 

Summary:   

Attached is the second read of the Board of Appeals ordinance. Modified number of members 

to five 95) which reflects Chapter 2 Article 8 Section 2-8-20 (ZBA) and Chapter 18 Article 4 

Section 18-4-30 (Board of Appeals). 

Notes: 

 

Staff suggested the combining of the Board of appeals and board of adjustments because of the 

historical difficulty with filling advisory boards and committees.  This is a Board decision on 

how to proceed. 

 

Modifications following the last meeting may be provided after publication of this packet by 

Attorney Nerlin.  

 

Thank you. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

78



 

Page 1 of 4 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, 

COLORADO, ESTABLISING A BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS 

 

RECITALS: 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Paonia (the “Town”), in the County of Delta and State of Colorado, is a 

municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town pursuant to C.R.S. 31-4-101, the Town has certain legislative powers; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-23-301, the Town has the power to regulate buildings and 

other structures for the purposes of promoting health, safety, and the general welfare of the community; 

and    

 

WHEREAS, the Town has adopted by reference codes and standards relating to the regulation of 

new construction, alteration, and repair of all new and existing structures within the Town, along with all 

plumbing, mechanical and installations therein or in connection therewith; and 

 

WHEREAS, each of these codes utilize an appeals board to hear and determine appeals of 

decisions of the building official or claims that the true intent of the code have been incorrectly interpreted; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sec. 2-2-90 of the Town Municipal Code, the Board of Trustees has the 

authority to create and appoint members to board and commissions; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sec. 16-15-10 of the Town Municipal Code, the Town has an established 

Zoning Board of Adjustment which addresses appeals of any administrative officer or agency made in 

enforcement of the Town Municipal Code pertinent to zoning; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Board of Trustees finds and determines that it is both necessary and 

desirable that a Building Code Board of Appeals be created; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Board determines that the existing Board of Adjustment shall sit and serve as the 

Building Code Board of Appeals whenever such board is required;  

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, AS FOLLOWS:  

 

Section 1.  Legislative Findings.   

 

The recitals to this Ordinance are adopted as findings of the Board of Trustees in support of the 

enactment of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 2.  Additions to the Town Code.   

 

 

(A)   The following Article 11 is added to Chapter 18 Town Code as follows:  

 

Chapter 18, Article 11 – Building Code Board of Appeals:  

79



 

Page 2 of 4 

 

Sec. 18-11-10.  Appeal Procedures.   

 

(a) There is hereby created the Building Code Board of Appeals. Unless otherwise 

conflicted, the four (4) members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment shall serve as the 

members of the Building Code Board of Appeals.  In addition to the foregoing, 

pursuant to Sec. 18-4-30, the Board of Appeals shall consist of five (5) members, who 

are qualified by experience and training to pass upon matters pertaining to building 

construction and the Building Official shall be an ex officio member and shall act as 

Secretary of the Board.  Therefore, the Board of Appeals shall consist of the four (4) 

members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment, and the Building Official as an ex officio 

member.   

 

(b) The purpose of the Board of Appeals is to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, 

or determinations made by the building official relative to the application and 

interpretation of the building codes, and amendments thereto, as adopted from time to 

time by reference within this Chapter 18.  Zoning appeals pursuant to Chapter 16 shall 

be heard in accordance with Chapter 16.   

  

(c) The Board of Appeals may adopt reasonable rules and regulations not inconsistent with 

this ordinance for conducting its business, meetings, and deliberations. 

 

(d) Appeals to the Board of Appeals may be taken by any person aggrieved by his or her 

inability to obtain a building permit based upon the decision of the building official. 

Appeals to the Board of Appeals must be made in writing and filed with the Town 

Clerk no later than 4:30 p.m. of the seventh day following the action or decision from 

which the appeal is taken. In the event the seventh day falls on a Saturday, Sunday 

or holiday, the next regular business day of the Town shall be deemed the seventh 

day. The day of the action or decision shall not be included in the seven-day 

calculation. 

 

(e) An appeal to the Board of Appeals stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action 

appealed from, unless the officer from whom the appeal is taken, certifies to the 

Board of Adjustment after the notice of appeal has been filed with him or her that, 

by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay, in his or her opinion, would cause 

imminent peril to life and property, in which case proceedings shall not be stayed 

other than by a restraining order which may be granted by the Board of Adjustment 

or a court of record on application, on notice to the officer from whom the appeal is 

taken and on whom due cause is shown. 

(e)  

Sec. 18-11-20. Hearings.   

(a) All hearings of the Board of Appeals shall be held within thirty (30) days of the 

filing of the appeal.   

(b) At hearings, all witnesses shall be sworn-in and the Chairperson will utilize such 

procedures as the Board of Appeals finds will ensure fairness and efficiency. The 

Board of Appeals shall not be required to observe formal rules of evidence but may 

consider any testimony or other evidence the Board finds reasonably reliable and 

calculated to aid the Board of Appeals in reaching an accurate determination of the 

issue involved. Rulings on questions of procedure, admissibility of evidence, and 

80



 

Page 3 of 4 

exhibits will be made by the Chairperson and will stand unless objected to by a 

member of the Board of Appeals, in which event the question will be decided by a 

majority vote of the members of the Board present. 

(c) The Board of Appeals shall have the authority to review any written final decisions of 

the building official regarding the suitability of alternate materials, methods of 

construction, or regarding the technical application and interpretation of the building 

codes adopted by reference, and any amendments thereto, within this Chapter 18. The 

Board of Appeals shall also be authorized to issue advisory opinions and policies 

regarding such matters at the request of the building official. The Board of Appeals 

shall not have the authority to waive requirements of any such code, nor shall the Board 

of Appeals have the authority to recommend decreasing public safety or fire-resistive 

standards set forth in any section of such codes. A decision of the Board shall not be 

considered a precedent for future decisions of the building official. The Board of 

Appeals shall act in each instance based upon the facts presented in the appeal. 

(d) In the event of a conflict between any building codes adopted by the Town and this 

Chapter 18, Article 11, the Town Code shall take precedent.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, for any matter which the Town Code is silent, the Board of Appeals shall 

take into account direction and guidance from the relevant building code(s).   

Sec. 18-11-30.  Fees.   

 

For all applications for, a fee shall be charged to cover the administrative costs of conducting 

the hearing. The amount of the fee shall be established by resolution of the Board of Trustees. 

 

 Sec. 18-11-40.  Decisions.   

 

The decision of a majority of the members of the Board of Appeals shall be final on the 

date it is made and signed by the Board of Appeals.  Any further appeal shall be in 

accordance with C.R.C.P. Rule 106(a)(4).   

 

   

 

Section 3.  Severability.   

 

If any provision, clause, sentence or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this 

Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and, to this end, the 

provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 

Section 4.  Repeal of Prior Ordinances.  

 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

 

Section 5.  Ordinance Effect. 

 

Existing ordinances or parts of ordinances covering the same matters as embraced in this Ordinance 

are hereby repealed and any and all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed, provided, however, that the repeal of any ordinance or parts of ordinances 

of the Town shall not revive any other section of any ordinance or ordinances hereto before repealed or 

81



 

Page 4 of 4 

superseded and further provided that this repeal shall not affect or prevent the prosecution or punishment 

of any person for any act done or committed in violation of any ordinance hereby repealed prior to the 

taking effect of this Ordinance.  

 

Section 6.  Effective Date. 

 

 This Ordinance shall take effect thirty days after adoption.  .   

 

 

INTRODUCED, READ, AND REFERRED to public hearing before the Board of Trustees 

of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, on the ___ day of March 2021. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

 

      By:________________________________ 

       Mary Bachran, Mayor 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk 

 

 

HEARD AND FINALLY ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Paonia, Colorado, this 

______ day of ___________, 2021. 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO, A 

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 

      By:________________________________ 

      Mary Bachran, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________________ 

CORINNE FERGUSON, Town Clerk 

 

 

Approved as To Form: 

 

____________________________________ 

BO JAMES NERLIN #40397, Town Attorney 

 

82



 

May 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Lot 5 Hawks Haven Subdivision Pre-Annexation Extension Request 

Summary:   

Request from Lot 5 owner, Donna Littlefield, to extend pre-annexation agreement for 

development for 5 years. 

 

Notes: 

 

The water tap is paid for in full. The monthly stand-by fee is assessed and collected as required 

per Town ordinance.  Staff has no issue or concern with the extension as requested. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

83



84



85



86



87



 

May 20, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

The Nature Connection & Western Slope Conservation Center - Trail Plan 

Presentation and In-Kind Request 

Summary:   

Update on trail system on Town property near High School and request for in-kind. 

 

Notes: 

 

MOU submitted to Town Attorney for review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

88



GOCO Generation Wild Grant Award  

 

Memorandum Of Understanding 

Between 

The Town of Paonia & The Nature Connection (DCSD) 

 

 
PARTIES:  

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is made and entered into by The Nature Connection (“TNC”), whose address is 397 

Bulldog Street, Hotchkiss, Colorado 81419, and The Town of Paonia - with properties including the Riverpark Trail Extension located on 

DCSD / Paonia K8 school and Town of Paonia .  

 

PURPOSE: 

 

This MOU between the entities listed above is intended to clarify a working relationship for a project spearheaded by The Nature 

Connection on the property of and in cooperation with The Town of Paonia. This GOCO Generation Wild Grant (2021-25) project 

includes, but is not limited to construction and maintenance of an educational trail and outdoor learning area.. This agreement serves as a 

working document for continued support and collaboration between the two entities. 

 

TERM:   

 

This agreement will be in effect from the date of signing and will automatically renew each year on --------(through Jan 31, 2025) unless 

either party submits a written request for amendment no less than (45) days before the proposed change may be enacted. The Board of 

Directors for both parties must approve any changes. 

 

 

RESPONSIBILITIES:  

 

The Nature Connection agrees to: 

 

a. Provide school year, family outdoor programs and summer camps through 2021-25 Generation Wild Grant 

b. Train and manage high school interns to perform annual maintenance on the community trail on Town of Paonia and 

DCSD property. 

c. Provide liability insurance and waivers for all TNC programs hosted on Town and school district trails 

 

 

 The Town of Paonia agrees to: 

 

a. Contribute $5000 annually to The Nature Connection high school pathways program to support annual trail 

maintenance. 

b. Annual maintenance and periodic inspection of trail and bridge for public safety 

c. Allow for trail use for school district and TNC summer and community programs 

d. Provide letters of support for grant applications to fund continued maintenance and trail improvements 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS: 

 

Amendments:  Either party may request changes to this MOU.  Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this MOU which 

are mutually agreed upon by and between the parties to this MOU shall be incorporated by written document, and effective when executed 

and signed by all parties to this MOU. 

Applicable Law:  The construction, interpretation and enforcement of this MOU shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado.  

The courts of the State of Colorado shall have jurisdiction over any action arising out of this MOU and over the parties. 

Entirety of Agreement:  This MOU, consisting of _____ pages, represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties and 

supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral. 

Severability:  Should any portion of the MOU be judicially determined to be illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the MOU shall 

continue in full force and effect, and either party may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

Sovereign Immunity:  The parties herein do not waive their sovereign immunity be entering into this MOU, and each fully retains all 

immunities and defenses provided by law with respect to any action based on or occurring as a result of this MOU. 

Third Party Beneficiary Rights:  The parties do not intend to create in any other individual or entity the status of a third party beneficiary, 

and this MOU shall not be construed so as to create such status.  The rights, duties, and obligations contained herein shall operate only 

between the parties named herein, and shall insure solely to the benefit of those parties.  The provisions of this MOU are intended only to 

assist the parties in determining and performing their obligations under this MOU.  The parties herein intend and expressly agree that only 

Commented [1]: Not sure what to say here 

89



parties signatory to this MOU shall have any legal or equitable right to seek to enforce this MOU, to seek any remedy arising out of a 

party’s performance or failure to perform any term or condition of this MOU, or to bring an action for the breach of this MOU. 

Signatures:  In witness whereof, the parties to this MOU through their duly authorized representatives have executed this MOU on the dates 

set out below, and certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this MOU as set forth herein. 

 

INDEMNITY:  

 

The Nature Connection agrees to indemnify and hold the Town of Paonia harmless from all claims, actions, suits (including but not limited 

to volunteers and staff, agents, or patrons), arising out of, or in connection to building, use, and occupation of all designated premises.   
 
 

The effective date of this MOU is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 

 
Approved this ___________day of _________________, 2021 

 

 

The Nature Connection       

       Director of Operations       

      

 

By________________________________   By__________________________________ 

     

 

90



 

 Visit us: www.thenatureconnection.net 

397 Bulldog St. Hotchkiss, CO 81419     (970) 872 –5910 

Town of Paonia Update 

Goal: Extend the Paonia River Park trail system to the new Paonia K8 school and to the Paonia Library

 

The Nature Connection has secured a grant from Colorado Parks and WIldlife to fund the design of a 

pedestrian bridge over the North Fork of the Gunnison on the Town of Paonia parcel located at:3 W 4th St. 

Parcel Number 324506201006 

Right now we have allocated up to $10,000 for the design of the pedestrian bridge. There may be some 

environmental clearances and permitting required and we hope to reserve some of this money for these 

purposes. 

Action items: 

● In-kind contribution for construction. Jake Hartter from WSCC has been in contact with Travis 

regarding the use of Town equipment to grade an entrance to the trail from Grand Ave. We also have 

another small segment needing back-hoes and/or larger equipment to move rocks. 

● MOU between Town of Paonia and The Nature Connection over maintenance of the trail including 

parts on Town property and DCSD property. Our proposal is that TNC hires and manages youth crews 

to do annual maintenance, clear brush, weeds and address simple drainage and tread issues. The 

bridge and any safety concerns will be fully the responsibility of the Town.  If major tree removal or 

91

http://www.thenatureconnection.net/
mailto:jake@theconservationcenter.org


 

 Visit us: www.thenatureconnection.net 

397 Bulldog St. Hotchkiss, CO 81419     (970) 872 –5910 

large limbs present a public safety hazard, Town will work with WSCC to get volunteers or Town 

personnel to remove hazard trees. 

● Scope of Work and Town of Paonia RFP for the design of a pedestrian bridge. Our grant will 

reimburse the Town for expenses related to contracting an engineering firm to design a pedestrian 

bridge. TNC would like to have input on the review of applicants and the awarding of a contract, 

however the RFP should come from the Town as work will be completed on Town Property. 

● Ownership and liability for trail: DCSD and TNC would like to make sure that we have had a formal 

discussion and include language in the MOU around liability for public use of trail. Since the trail 

crosses Town and School property multiple times. I’d like to propose a few ideas: 

○ Town of Paonia can close bridge for public safety reasons 

○ School District can close access-trail to school for any reason 

○ WSCC will manage the discussion with CPW around closure for wildlife (winter closure.) 

○ Town or School district can initiate a closure, reroute for any safety reasons 

 

 

92

http://www.thenatureconnection.net/


 

May 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

North Fork Valley Creative Coalition - Poulos Park Wall Mural 

Summary:   

Request for Board approval of the mural proposed for the back wall of Poulos Park. 

 

Notes: 

 

One of the final pieces to the ongoing Poulos Park Pride Project is approval of the mural 

solicited by North Fork Valley Creative Coalition and paid for via grant funds received by the 

Creative Coalition.  Staff and other members of the project committee met at Poulos Park to 

discuss the mural project and fully support the design and the effort!  Timeline to begin the 

mural is early June, with a quick, less than 10-day turn-around for completion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

93



94



 

May 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Requirements for Use of Various Areas of Town Park 

Summary:   

Discussion and direction regarding uses of vendors in various areas of Town Park. 

 

Notes: 

 

Following discussion regarding vendors use of greenspace vs. finished spaces at Town Park 

the Board moved to discuss requirements for use of certain areas of Town Park. 

 

Staff recommendation that food vendors for events utilize the paved areas of Town Park – this 

also gives best direct access to electrical panel currently. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

95



 

May 19, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Fund Balance Financial Policy 

Summary:   

A written policy reflecting best practices and current methods used by the Town of Paonia 

regarding reserves and financial policies. 

 

Notes: 

 

The draft policy was provided at the May 11th meeting in the packet to allow for adequate time 

for Board review and to provide written comments, questions, or suggestions prior to the May 

25th meeting. To date, May 19th no comments, concerns, or suggestions have been received 

therefore staff recommends the Board accept the policy as presented. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

96



1 
 

Town of Paonia 

Fund Balance and Reserve Policy 2021 

 
The Town of Paonia, Colorado financial policies set forth the basic framework for the fiscal 

management of the Town. These policies were developed within the parameters established by 

applicable provisions of the Colorado Revised Statutes and the Town of Paonia.  The policies are 

to be reviewed on an annual basis and modified to accommodate changing circumstances or 

conditions. 

 

FINANCIAL REPORTING 
The Town’s accounting records are audited by an independent certified public accounting firm 

following the conclusion of each fiscal year in accordance with the Town and State law. The 

Finance Director prepares the Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to state and local governments established by the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) for governmental accounting and financial 

reporting principles. The Audit Report shows the status of the Town’s finances on the basis of 

GAAP. The Audit Report also shows fund revenues and expenditures on both a GAAP basis and 

budget basis for comparison purposes. 

 

PURPOSE 

The Town of Paonia has determined it to be a sound, financial practice to maintain adequate 

levels of unrestricted fund balance/working capital in order to mitigate current and future risks 

such as revenue shortfalls and unanticipated expenditures.  Additionally, the Town believes that 

adequate unrestricted fund balance/working capital levels are a critical consideration to the 

Town’s long-term financial planning.  

 

It is important to clearly understand the following definitions when reviewing this policy.  

 
Fund Balance - The net position of a governmental fund (difference between assets, liabilities, deferred 

outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources). 

  

Fund Balance Target - A target level of fund balance to be held in reserve to meet the purposes of the 

Fund Balance and Reserve Policy. 

 
Reserve - Funds set aside for the purpose of paying for capital needs, providing for obligations and 

liabilities, and meeting emergency needs. Board of Trustees approval is required before expending any 

reserves. 

 

Reserve Requirement- Cash required to be held in reserve for a specific purpose (grants, donations or 

contributions from external providers) or to meet federal or state laws or regulations. 

 

The Town of Paonia therefore desires to establish a formal Fund Balance and Reserve Policy for 

all Town funds that promotes responsible financial management by adhering to best budget 

practices and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  By maintaining sufficient 

fund balance and reserves, the Town will be well positioned to do the following: 

 

97



2 
 

 Provide financial security and ensure continued delivery of Town services. 

 Withstand the next economic downturn or other type of fiscal stress (revenue or cash 

shortfall, natural disaster, or other emergencies). 

 Promote stable tax rates, charges, and fees. 

 Protect the Town's creditworthiness and bond rating. 

 Provide flexibility to respond to unanticipated opportunities. 

 Consider long-term financial planning needs. 

 

SCOPE 
This policy outlines fund balance targets and recommended reserves for all Town funds.  It also 

recognizes the unique needs and characteristics of each Town fund and includes summary 

information by fund type along with detailed specifics for each individual fund.  

 

BASIC OF PRESENTATION – FUND ACCOUNTING 

The activities of the Town are organized into separate funds that are designated for a specific 

purpose or set of purposes. Each fund is considered a separate accounting entity, so the 

operations of each fund are accounted for with a set of self‐balancing accounts that comprise its 

revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and fund equity as appropriate. 

 

The number and variety of funds used by the Town promotes accountability but can also make 

municipal budgeting and finance complex. Therefore, understanding the fund structure is an 

important part of understanding the Town’s finances. The Town uses Governmental Funds and 

within this fund type the Town has Special Revenue Funds and a Capital Investment Project 

Fund. 

 

Governmental Funds 

Included below is a description of the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and the Capital 

Investment Program (CIP). 

 

The Governmental Funds of the Town of Paonia include: 

General Fund: The General Fund is the Town's major operating fund. All revenues, by law or 

administrative control, that are not in otherwise designated funds are deposited in the General 

Fund. The General Fund is used to provide for Administration, Community Development, 

General Government, Public Safety, and Parks and Recreation services. The primary source of 

revenue for the General Fund is taxes.   

 

The General Fund is used to provide for Administration, Building Permits, Public Safety, Streets, 

and Parks and Recreation services. The primary sources of revenues for the General Fund are: 

 

1. Sales taxes (Town and Delta County), 

2. Property taxes, 

3. Franchise Taxes and 

4. Intergovernmental revenues specifically Highway Users Tax. 

 

 

Special Revenue Funds  

98



3 
 

Special Revenue funds account for activities supported by revenues that are received or set aside 

for a specific purpose that are legally restricted. These funds are described in greater detail under 

the Special Funds tab of this budget document. The Town has seven Special Revenue funds: 

Street Capital Improvement Fund, Bridge Fund, Sidewalk Fund, Space-to-Create Fund, 

Conservation Trust Fund, and Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund. 

 

Street Capital Improvement Fund: The Street Capital Improvement fund was added in 2018 

and is funded by a 3% impact fees paid by the Water, Sewer and Trash Funds and is to be used 

for capital improvements (reconstruction and paving) of the Town proper roads.  In November 

2020 the citizens approved the sales of marijuana and restricted the revenues to Street Capital 

Improvement only. 

 

Bridge Fund: The Bridge Fund is deferred revenue which was received from Delta County in 

January 2010 for the total of $800,000 which by contract is amortized at $40,000/year. However, 

in 2015, the Board of Trustees agreed to maintain the remaining funds as restricted fund to only 

be used for bridge projects. 

 

Sidewalk Fund: The Sidewalk Fund is funded through utility billing by a $3.00 fee assessed 

monthly on in-Town properties only to be used to repair and replace existing sidewalks. 

Space-to-Create Fund: In 2017, the Town received a grant from the Boettcher Foundation of 

$35,000 to begin Space-to-Create project. Space-to-Create advance a feasibility analysis of 

creative sector workforce space in the Town of Paonia. The initiative began with a preliminary 

feasibility study and community engagement work, followed by an arts market survey. In 

addition, in 2018, the Town received a $25,000 REDI Grant from DOLA for the feasibility 

study, a $17,500 DOLA Grant for the Market Survey, a $50,000 Grant from Colorado Creative 

Industries (CCI) for the ongoing development of the Space-to-Create project and a $915.00 

contribution from the public. In 2019, the Town was requested to return $45,000 to the Colorado 

Creative Industries (CCI) as the Town was not going to be able to spend those funds on pre-

development in 2019. The Town formally withdrew from the Space to Create Campaign in 2020.  

The balance in the account will be used to support the Paonia Creative District. 

 

Conservation Trust Fund: The Conservation Trust Fund is used to account for monies received 

by the Town from the State of Colorado lottery proceeds. These funds are restricted for use in the 

acquisition, development and maintenance of new park and conservation sites or for capital 

improvements and maintenance of any existing public site for recreational purposes. 

 

Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund  
The Capital Investment Program (CIP) Fund account for financial resources that must be used 

for the acquisition, improvements or construction of major capital projects.  The Sales Tax 

Capital Improvement Fund is funded by 1% of the 3% Town Sales Tax.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

99



4 
 

   GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS    

 

 
 

       

    

 

  

  

  

   

       

           

COMBINED CASH     GENERAL FUND     SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

            

         

           

     ADMINISTRATION     STREET CAPITAL 

           

         

           

     BUILDING     BRIDGE 

           

         

           

     PUBLIC SAFETY     SIDEWALK 

           

         

           

     PARKS     PASS THROUGH GRANT 

           

         

           

     STREETS     SPACE - TO - CRATE 

          

        

         

        CONSERVATION TRUST  

         

        

         

        SALES TAX 

      CAPTIAL IMPROVEMENT 

        

       

 

 

 

 

Enterprise Funds 

100



5 
 

Enterprise funds are defined as being government owned businesses authorized to issue its own 

revenue bonds and receiving under ten percent of its annual revenue in grants from all Colorado 

state and local governments.  These are self-sustaining funds.  Revenues are generated from fees 

and expenses disbursed from the same fund. Funds are not intermingled with other enterprise 

funds. 

 

The Enterprise Funds (business-type activities) of the Town of Paonia include the: 

 

Water Fund: The Town operates two water treatment facilities. The upper system, also known 

as the 2-Million Gallon (2MG) Water Treatment Plant (WTP) services primarily the out-of-town 

customers, water companies and the northeast end of Town. The lower system, also known as the 

1-Million Gallon (1MG) Water Treatment Plant or commonly referred to as the "Clock Plant" 

services mostly Town proper. The primary sources of revenue are charges for service for 

operational expenses. This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenses associated with 

the operations and maintenance of the water treatment and delivery (distribution) system. Also, 

to be included in the charges for services or any rate consideration for this fund are the 

repayment of loans for the water treatment facilities and monies for capital re-investment to these 

systems. 

 

Water Grant Project Fund: The Grant Project Fund is funded by refundable grants designated 

to specific projects plus Town matching funds. This fund is a “pass through fund” specifically 

for the tracking of grants awarded. This fund is combined with the water fund as a sub-fund in 

the current year. 

 

Sewer Fund: The Town operates a Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) and sanitary sewer 

collection system. The primary sources of revenue are charges for service. This fund is used to 

account for the revenues and expenses associated with the operations and maintenance of the 

wastewater treatment plant and collections system. Also, to be included in the charges for 

services or any rate consideration for this fund are the repayment of loans for the wastewater 

treatment plant facility and monies for capital re-investment to this system. 

 

Sewer Grant Project Fund: The Grant Project Fund is funded by refundable grants designated 

to specific projects plus Town matching funds. This fund is a “pass through fund” specifically 

for the tracking of grants awarded. This fund is combined with the sewer fund as a sub-fund in 

the current year. 

 

Sanitation (Trash) Fund: The Trash Fund is used to account for revenues and expenses 

associated with the collection and disposal of trash for In-Town residents and businesses. 

Charges for the service are the only revenue source for this activity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
       

101



6 
 

   

ENTERPRISE 

FUNDS   

  

 

 
 

    

   

 

  

   

 

  

      

        

    WATER      

SPECIAL REVENUE 

FUNDS 

          

        

          

    SEWER     WATER GRANT S 

          

        

          

    SANITATION     SEWER GRANTS 

        

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy Guidance 

102



7 
 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), founded in 1906, has nearly 200 Best 

Practices regarding various areas of public finance. These Best Practices are approved by the 

GFOA Executive Board and identify policies and procedures that contribute to improved 

government management.  The following three Best Practice relate to fund balances and 

reserves: 

 

1. Fund Balance Guidelines for the General Fund 

• Establish a formal policy regarding the level of unrestricted fund balance to be 

maintained in the general fund for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(GAAP) and budgetary purposes. 

• Maintain a minimum of two months of regular general fund operating revenues or 

general fund operating expenditures. 

• Consider the following factors while developing a fund balance and reserve policy: 

predictability of revenues and expenditures, perceived exposure to significant one-

time outlays, general fund commitments to other funds, availability of resources in 

other funds, bond rating impacts and borrowing costs, other commitments and 

assignments. 

• Replenish expended fund balances within one to three years of use. 

 

2. Working Capital Targets for Enterprise Funds 

• Adopt a target amount of working capital to maintain in each enterprise fund. 

• Develop a working capital target amount that best fits the characteristics of each fund. 

• Start with a baseline of 90 days worth of working capital, then adjust up or down 

based upon each fund's particular characteristics. 

 

3. Achieving a Structurally Balanced Budget 

• Adopt policies for operating funds to achieve and maintain a structurally balanced 

budget. 

• Identify items related to structural balance (recurring and non-recurring revenues, 

recurring and non-recurring expenditures, and reserves). 

• Define a minimum amount of funds to hold in reserve. 

 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), established in 1984, is the source of 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) used by state and local governments in the 

United States. The GASB issues pronouncements designed to provide taxpayers, legislators, 

municipal bond analysts, and others with useful information for decision-making. The GASB's 

major guidance related to fund balance is found in the GASB's Statement No. 54 (GASB 54) on 

Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. 

 

GASB 54 defines five classifications of fund balance, which are summarized in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

103



8 
 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54 Fund Balance 

Classifications 

CLASSIFICATION DEFINITION 

Nonspendable Resources that are not in a spendable form (inventories, prepaid 

items, or items required to be maintained intact). 

Restricted Resources constrained to specific purposes by external providers 

(creditors, granters, contributors, and other levels of government) 

through laws and regulations. 

Committed Resources constrained by limitations the Town imposes upon itself 

at its highest level of decision-making authority (Town Council); 

limitations remain binding unless removed in the same manner. 

Assigned Resources a government intends to use for a specific purpose; intent 

can be expressed by the governing body or by an official or body to 

which the governing body delegates authority. 

Unassigned Resources available for any purpose; these resources are reported 

only in the General Fund. 

 

*It is the unrestricted categories of fund balance, committed, assigned, and unassigned, that this 

policy focuses on, as the Town has direct control over these categories. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
TOWN OF PAONIA 

104



9 
 

 

FINANCIAL POLICIES 

The Town is accountable to its citizens for the use of public funds. Resources need to be used 

wisely to ensure adequate funding for current and long term needs of the community. Financial 

policies are developed to provide the resources necessary to accomplish the Town’s goals while 

maintaining fiscal stability. These policies should be reviewed and updated annually to ensure 

their applicability toward achievement of the Town’s goals. 

 

BALANCED OPERATING BUDGET POLICY 

The Town is required to adopt a balanced budget where operating revenues are equal to, or 

exceed, operating expenditures. Any increase in expenses, decrease in revenues, or combination 

of the two that would result in a budget imbalance will require budget revision, rather than 

spending un-appropriated surpluses or designated reserves to support ongoing operations. Any 

year end operating surpluses will revert to un-appropriated balances for use in maintaining 

reserve levels set by policy and the balance will be available for capital projects and/or “one-time 

only” expenditures. 

 

Revenue 

 

 Property Taxes - Statutory and Constitutional Limitations. Due to imposition of 

limitations on the mill levy and tax revenues through statutory and constitutional 

requirements, the mill levy has been reduced by a temporary tax credit over the last 10 

years. In 2013 the town approved a ballot issue removing the Town from the statutory 

property tax revenue limitations of CRS 29-1-301, et seq. (the “5.5%” limit), allowing the 

town to earn the entire mill levy of 8.322%.  Approval by the voters is required for an 

increase in the mill levy. Property tax revenues increase as a result of growth in the Town 

from new construction and annexations.  

 

 One-time Revenues. On-going revenues should equal or exceed on-going expenditures.  

To the extent feasible, one-time revenues will be applied toward one-time expenditures 

and not used to finance on-going programs. 

 

 Charges for Services. Charges for services shall be reviewed at least annually and may be 

adjusted periodically to offset the cost of providing those services. 

 

 Diversification of Revenues. The Town shall continue to diversify its revenue sources to 

encourage financial stability and avoid becoming overly reliant on a specific segment of 

the Town’s revenue base. 

 

Expenditures 

 

 Personnel Costs. Town of Paonia employee compensation will be comparable to other 

governmental entities with similar characteristics to Paonia including population, services 

provided, and economic conditions. Salary and pay range adjustments are based on a 

ratio of increases in the market and individual employee performance. 

 

 Performance Measurements. The Board of Trustees and staff will identify areas where 

the measurement of performance will provide them and the public with useful 

105



10 
 

information about the effectiveness and efficiency of the Town’s use of resources. The 

purpose of performance measures is to provide data to improve quality of services and/or 

provide services in a more cost-effective manner.  

 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM POLICY 

The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) will be utilized to identify capital projects and/or 

improvements that are part of the Town’s strategic vision and economic development efforts. 

 

A one-year Capital Improvement Plan is prepared and updated on an annual basis during the 

budget process. Revenue sources for each project will be identified in the Plan as well as 

ongoing operating requirements for each capital investment.  

 

The CIP will cover, at a minimum, a five (5) year period and provide a projection of the 

financing needs required to implement the CIP. The CIP will include the associated ongoing 

operations and maintenance costs of such capital assets and/or improvements so that the total 

costs of the projects are considered. The CIP will be updated annually by the Town’s Public 

Works’ Director as part of the budget process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



11 
 

TOWN OF PAONIA 

 

RESERVE POLICY 

Fund Balance is defined as the difference between assets and liabilities in a governmental fund 

(General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Capital Project Funds). Working Capital is defined 

as the difference between current assets and current liabilities for non-governmental funds 

(Enterprise Funds).  Fund balance targets are largely based on set percentages of a fund's 

operating expenditures to be held in reserve to meet the purposes outlined at the beginning of this 

policy. 

 

GFOA's Fund Balance Guidelines for the General Fund Best Practice recommends maintaining a 

minimum of two months of regular general fund operating revenues or general fund operating 

expenditures. The Town uses operating expenditures as the calculation basis. 

 

 Operating Reserves - An operating reserve will be maintained in the General Fund and 

Enterprise Funds in an amount equal to 25% to 50% of the current year's expenditures, 

excluding transfers, as set by the Board of Trustees during the budget process. This 

reserve may be used to provide a temporary source of funds to offset unanticipated 

reductions in revenues or short-term increase in expenditures. Revenue shortfalls or 

ongoing increases in operational expenses need to be addressed quickly to avoid negative 

impacts on the Town’s fiscal stability. Operating reserves also provide a source of funds 

to provide for adequate cash flow needs of the Town.  Operating reserves should be 

replaced as soon as possible after use. 

 

 Other Reserves - Reserves in other funds will be established in amounts required by law, 

bond, and loan documents, or as deemed appropriate by the Board of Trustees.  

 

 Emergency Reserves - An emergency reserve in the amount of 3% of the Fiscal Year 

Spending Limit, excluding debt service, as required by TABOR (Article X, Section 20 of 

the Colorado Constitution) will be maintained. Emergency reserves are limited in use and 

cannot be used to offset a downturn in economic conditions, revenue shortfalls, and 

increases in salaries and benefits. 

 

 Transfer from Fund Balances in Excess of Reserve Requirement - transfer funding in 

excess of the required reserve amounts, per this Policy for one-time capital expenses.  

 

o Funds with balances in excess of fund balance targets and reserve requirements 

can transfer excess amounts to other funds, in the form of interfund transfers. 

o Any excess fund balance should be transferred to the funds of origin that 

contributed to the excess. 

o lnterfund transfers of excess reserves should be treated as one-time revenue and 

are not intended to fund on-going operations and maintenance. 

o lnterfund transfers must be approved by Board of Trustees. 

 

 Access Fund Balance Reserves Below the Minimum - accessing fund balance reserves 

that would temporarily place the reserve amount below the required threshold, in 

accordance with the Town’s Fund Balance and Reserve Policy.  
 

107



12 
 

o Based upon fiscal conditions and other needs, accessing fund balances and 

reserves below the minimum targets may be warranted.  

o Accessing fund balances and reserves below the minimum targets should be done 

prudently and with caution -in conjunction with the exercise of other budget 

balancing alternatives. 

o Fund balances and reserves should be replenished within one to three years of use 

or as soon as fiscally feasible. 

o Accessing any fund balances and reserves, whether below the minimum target or 

not, requires Board of Trustees approval. 

 

Use of Funds 

While targeting to maintain an annual unrestricted fund balance of 25.0%, the Town understands 

there may be circumstances that warrant that the Town use these funds temporarily. The Town 

has established the following instances where it may elect to use these funds: 
 

• An economic downturn in which revenues are below budget 

• Unexpected and unappropriated costs to service and maintain current Town operations 

• Unexpected and non-budgeted emergencies, natural disaster costs, and/or litigation 

• Grant matching 

• Early retirement of debt 

• To cover deficits in other funds due to a shortfall in budgeted revenues 

• Capital asset acquisition, construction, and improvement projects 

 

The use of the unrestricted fund balance for the above permitted events which cause the 

unrestricted fund balance to fall below the targeted 25% level will require a majority (four of 

seven) vote by Board of Trustees. Use of the restricted fund balance which causes the 

unrestricted fund balance to fall below the minimum required level of 17% will require a super 

majority (five of seven) vote by Board of Trustees. 

 

Terms for Replenishing 

In instances where the Town elects to use its unrestricted fund balance for capital asset 

acquisition, construction, and improvement projects, the Town shall replenish the unrestricted 

fund balance to its previous levels as soon as possible.  For any and all other instances, as 

permitted by this policy, in which the Town elects to use its unrestricted fund balance, the Town 

will replenish the unrestricted fund balance as soon as revenues are available, but only after the 

Town’s current operational needs have been met. 

 

Excess Funds 

In the event the Town has accumulated its permitted, maximum unrestricted fund balance of 

35.0%, the Town, at the discretion and determination of the Town Administrator/Clerk and the 

Finance Director and approved by the Board of Trustees, will designate such excess funds for the 

following purposes: 
 

• Reserves for equipment replacement 

• Repair and maintenance of Town facilities 

• Funding of infrastructure improvements 

Review of Policy 

The Town Treasurer, the Finance Director and the Town Administrator/Clerk will review this 

Policy annually in connection with the Town’s annual budgeting process to ensure that the Town 

108



13 
 

is maintaining adequate unrestricted fund balance levels.  This policy was written using the 

guidelines set forth by the GFOA. As such, any updates issued by the GFOA shall be considered 

when making recommendations for modifications to this policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF PAONIA 
 

DEBT POLICY 

109



14 
 

The Town of Paonia (Town) recognizes the importance of long-range, financial planning in order 

to meet its capital project and improvement needs. The following debt management policy 

provides guidance on the issuance of debt to help ensure that the Town maintains a sound debt 

position and that its credit quality is protected. As such, the policy allows for an appropriate 

balance between establishing debt parameters while also providing flexibility to respond to 

unforeseen circumstances and new opportunities. 

 

Responsibility and Administration of Policy 

The primary responsibility for developing long-term, financing recommendations rests with the 

Town Administrator/Clerk and Finance Director. During the annual budget process, and at any 

other time during the year that may be warranted, the Town Administrator/Clerk and Finance 

Director will work with the Town Treasurer and the Finance Committee (the internal working 

group) to determine if there is a need for long-term financing consideration. As part of the 

determination process, the internal working group shall review the financing needs outlined by 

the Capital Improvement Program (see below) to analyze the capital financing needs compared 

with available resources. The internal working group will also provide recommendations 

regarding refunding and restructuring of existing debt. 
 

Once the determination is made by the internal working group to pursue finance borrowing, a 

refunding, or restructuring of debt, the Town Administrator/Clerk and Finance Director shall 

prepare and present to Board of Trustees a resolution of intent to issue debt and authorizing 

Town staff to proceed with the necessary preparations.  

 

Purpose of Debt 

Incurrence of debt or long-term borrowing will only be used for the purpose of providing 

financing for capital assets, which include but are not limited to buildings, infrastructure, land 

acquisition and purchase of significant equipment. The Town, under no circumstances, will issue 

debt or borrow funds to finance Town operations and maintenance costs. 
 

The Town will strive to maximize the use of pay-as-you-go financing for capital projects and 

improvements. Debt borrowing will be considered when annual revenues and accumulation of 

fund balances are not sufficient to provide the necessary funding for such projects. 

 

Types of Debt 

Although a portion of the Town’s capital investments are funded from grants, general tax 

revenues, and user fees, the Town may borrow funds to finance capital improvements. The 

issuance of bonds or other securities generates financial resources to fund capital projects and 

obligates future revenue for repayment of the bonds. Debt service is the annual payment of 

principal and interest on these borrowed funds. 

 

The types of debt instruments to be used by the Town may include: 
 

• General Obligation and Revenue Bonds 

• Short-term notes 

• Special or Local Improvement bonds 

• Certificates of Participation 

• Any other legally recognized security approved by Board of Trustees 

The Town will avoid the issuance of tax or revenue anticipation notes. 

 

110



15 
 

Additionally, the Town will strive to secure a fixed rate structure when issuing debt. The Town 

will consider a variable rate structure when market conditions favor this type of issuance, and 

when feasible, ensure there is a maximum interest rate provided within the variable rate 

structure. 

 

Level of Debt 

Pursuant to the Colorado Revised Statue, the Town of Paonia may borrow money and issue 

securities for short-term notes, general obligation bonds, revenue bonds, industrial development 

revenue bonds, bonds for special or local improvement districts and any other like securities. 

There is no limitation on the amount of bonds or other securities the Town may issue except as 

may be stated in the documents related to issuance of debt and subject to voter approval in the 

case of general obligation debt. 

 

The issuance of debt may limit the Town’s flexibility to respond to changing service priorities 

and revenue flows and therefore should be managed prudently to maintain a sound fiscal position 

and protect credit quality. 

 

The amount of debt that the Town has at any given time will be a function of its ability to service 

that debt through the operating budget or a dedicated revenue source without diminishing the 

resources necessary for other non-capital priorities and the desire to maintain a high-quality 

credit rating while sustaining overall financial health. Yet, at the same time, the Town recognizes 

that to meet its mission and strategic objectives, investment in the form of capital is often 

necessary and such investment may necessitate the incurrence of debt. 

 

The Town’s aggregate amount of bonds or other evidence of indebtedness outstanding will not 

exceed three percent (3%) of the actual valuation of the taxable property within the Town as 

shown by the last preceding assessment.  

 

The Town will strive to maintain its annual debt service costs (principal and interest) for its 

governmental activities at a level of no greater than ten percent (10%) of general fund 

expenditures. The repayment terms of the debt will not exceed the useful life of the capital asset 

financed. Further, the Town will seek level or declining debt repayment schedules and will not 

issue debt that provides for a balloon principal payment reserved at the end of the term of the 

issue. Moreover, the Town will also strive to obtain redemption terms that allow for the 

prepayment of debt without paying a redemption penalty. 

 

Debt Issuance Practices 

As part of its debt issuance process, the Town will at all times manage its debt and sustain its 

financial position in order to secure and maintain an Aa/AA or higher bond rating. The Town 

will market its debt through the use of a competitive bid process when issuing general obligation 

debt. The competitive bid process will also be used for other debt issuances unless time, interest 

rates and/or other factors make it more favorable for the Town to use a negotiated process. 

 

If needed, the Town will hire an independent financial advisor, and any other professional 

service provider (e.g. bond counsel), to assist in the structuring of the debt transaction and to 

provide overall guidance throughout the process. 

 

Guidelines for Refunding 

111



16 
 

The Town shall consider refunding (advance and current refunding) outstanding debt whenever 

an analysis indicates the potential for net present value (NPV) savings of at least three percent 

(3%) can be achieved. The Town may also consider refunding outstanding bonds to remove 

existing restrictive covenants. 

 

The Town shall also consider restructuring its existing debt in order to extend the payment terms 

to meet cash flow needs if deemed beneficial to the Town’s long-term financial and strategic 

planning. 

 

Review of Policy 

The Town Administrator/Clerk, Finance Director, and Town Treasurer will review the Debt 

Management Policy annually in connection with the Town’s annual budget process to ensure that 

the Town is adhering to the framework outlined in this policy and will make recommendations to 

revise the policy as needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DEFINITIONS 

112



17 
 

 
Appropriation -A legal authorization made by the Board of Trustees to make expenditures and incur 

obligations for specific purposes. 

 

Capital Expenditures- Expenditures resulting from a purchase that the Town records as an asset, such as 

property, plant, or equipment (value of $5,000 or greater on a unit basis). 

 

Capital Improvement Fund-A fund used to account for the revenues and expenditures related to capital 

projects. Capital projects are frequently funded by multiple funding sources, which are consolidated 

within a single fund to show the full cost of such projects in one location. The Town's Capital 

Improvement Fund houses activity related to non-enterprise projects.  The Enterprise Fund related capital 

projects are housed with appropriate Enterprise Funds. 

 

Contributions - Funding contributions made to Other Entities to which the Town has financial and or 

organizational connection.  An Example include: Paonia Airport. 

 

Encumbrance -An amount of appropriated funding committed and reserved, but not yet expended, for 

the purchase of a specific good or service, for which a purchase order or contract has been approved. 

Obligations cease to be encumbrances when paid or when the actual liability is established. 

 

Enterprise Fund-A fund that is self-supported through user fees. Examples of Enterprise Funds include 

the Water, Wastewater, and Solid Waste (Trash). Per the TABOR amendment, these funds cannot have 

more than 10% of their budget subsidized by another fund (i.e. the General Fund) or by annual grant 

revenue. 

 

Expenditure -Payment for goods or services, including operating expenses that require the current or 

future use of net current assets, debt and capital outlays. Note that an encumbrance is not an expenditure, 

but a reserves funds to be expended in the current fiscal year. 

 

Fiduciary Fund - A fund to account for an activity of the Town as a trustee over funds allotted to meet a 

current or future financial obligation, usually on an actuarially sound basis. Example: Special 

Improvement District Fund, which is an Other Entity not covered by this policy. 

 

Fiscal Contingency Plan -A framework to identify and respond to fiscal stress, to promote budget 

resiliency. 

 

Fund -An accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts, which is segregated from other funds, 

to carry on specific activities or attain certain objectives. 

 

Fund Balance - The net position of a governmental fund (difference between assets, liabilities, deferred 

outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources). 

  

Fund Balance Target - A target level of fund balance to be held in reserve to meet the purposes of the 

Fund Balance and Reserve Policy. 

 

Fund Type- In governmental accounting, funds are classified into three major fund types: governmental, 

proprietary, and fiduciary. 

 

General Fund- One of five governmental fund types. The general fund typically serves as the chief 

operating fund of a government. The general fund is used to account for all financial resources not 

accounted for in some other fund. Financed mainly by sales tax and property tax. 

 

113



18 
 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP} - Uniform minimum standards and guidelines for 

financial accounting and reporting. They govern the form and content of the basic financial statements of 

an entity. GAAP encompasses the convention, rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted 

accounting practices at a particular time. They include not only broad guidelines of general application, 

but also detailed practices and procedures. GAAP provides a standard by which to measure financial 

presentations. 

 

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) - Founded in 1906, the GFOA is the premier 

organization representing public finance officials throughout the United States and Canada. The GFOA 

provides training, best practice guidance, and other materials to its members. 

 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board {GASB} - The body that sets accounting standards 

specifically for state and local governments. 

 

Governmental Fund - There are five types of governmental funds - general fund, permanent funds, 

special revenue funds, capital projects funds, and debt service funds.  

 

Operating Expenditures - Expenditures incurred by the Town as a result of performing normal 

operations, such as personal services, supplies, purchased services, and administrative overhead. 

Operating expenditures include contributions to Other Entities, but do not include capital and transfers. 

Operating Expenditures serve a basis for calculating fund balance targets and reserve requirements. 

 

Other Governmental Fund - A fund that is related to the General Fund, but that is separated to promote 

transparency.  

 

Proprietary Fund-A business-like fund of the Town. Proprietary Funds include Enterprise Funds. 

 

Re-appropriation - An act of appropriating applicable remaining balances at the end of a fiscal year to 

incorporate those remaining balances in the subsequent fiscal year's budget for continuation of on-going 

projects, contracts, and financial obligations. 

 

Reserve - Funds set aside for the purpose of paying for capital needs, providing for obligations and 

liabilities, and meeting emergency needs. Board of Trustees approval is required before expending any 

reserves. 

 

Reserve Requirement- Cash required to be held in reserve for a specific purpose (grants, donations or 

contributions from external providers) or to meet federal or state laws or regulations. 

 

Revenue - Funds that the government receives as income such as tax payments, user fees, charges, 

special assessments, fines, grants and interest income to support the services provided. 

 

Special Revenue Fund-A fund used to account for proceeds of specific revenues that are legally 

restricted to be spent for specific purposes. Examples of Special Revenue Funds include Space to Create 

and the Conservation Trust Funds. 

 

Tax Payer Bill of Rights (TABOR) - Also known as Amendment 1 (Article X, Section 20), TABOR is a 

state constitutional amendment approved by Colorado voters in 1992. TABOR limits "Fiscal Year 

Spending" by limiting the amount of revenue a government may retain. The revenue limit in a given year 

is the amount of revenue collected in the prior year adjusted for inflation and local growth. TABOR also 

requires the state and local governments to maintain a 3% Emergency Reserve. Paonia voters have 

authorized the Town to retain TABOR Excess revenues.  

 

114



19 
 

TABOR 3% Emergency Reserve - A reserve required by the TABOR state constitutional amendment. 

The reserve is required to be 3% of the Town’s "fiscal year spending" and is calculated on an appropriate 

practical basis to be 3% of the Town's TABOR eligible expenditures. 

 

TABOR Eligible Revenue-The Town's actual fiscal year revenue less any TABOR allowable exclusions. 

This serves as the amount to which the Town's TABOR limit is compared to determine if there is any 

TABOR Excess Revenue. 

 

TABOR Excess Reserve - The remaining balance of unallocated TABOR Excess Revenue held in 

reserve for future expenditures authorized by Board of Trustees.  

 

Transfers - Amounts distributed from one fund to finance activities in another fund. Transfers are shown 

as an expenditure in the originating fund and a revenue in the receiving fund. 

 

Working Capital - The Proprietary Fund (Enterprise Funds) equivalent of Fund Balance. Proprietary 

Funds distinguish between current (within a year) and long-term assets and liabilities. The working 

capital of a Proprietary Fund is calculated as the current assets minus the current liabilities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

115



20 
 

Town Funds by Fund Type Summary 
 

GOVERNMENTAL 

GENERAL FUND 

OTHER 

GOVERNMENTAL 

FUNDS 

SPECIAL REVENUE 

FUNDS 

ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

Main Town operating 

fund; houses  

operations largely 

supported by tax 

revenues 

Other Funds related 

to the General Fund, 

but that are 

separated to 

promote 

transparency 

Funds that account for 

revenues received for 

specific purposes that 

cannot be used for 

general Town 

operations 

Funds that account for 

governmental busines 

operations 

Governmental (General) Governmental  Governmental Enterprise Fund 

01-Governmental Fund 22-Streets Capital 32-Space to Create 60-Water 

09-Combined Cash Fund 24-Bridge 40-Conservation Trust  65-Water Grant Fund 

10-Administration 26-Sidewalk 50-Sales Tax Capital  70-Sewer 

12-Building   75-Sewer Grant Fund 

14-Public Safety   80-Sanitation (Trash) Fund 

16-Parks    

20-Streets    

30-Grant Pass Through    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

116



21 
 

Town of Paonia 

Fund Balance and Reserve Matrix 

 

GENERAL FUND 

RESERVE 
FUND BALANCE 

CLASSIFICATION 

POLICY 

RECOMMENDATION 

(Calculated on annual budget 

basis) 
FUND 

BALANCE 

RESERVE 

TARGET 

SURPLUS/ 

SHORTFALL 

3% TABOR 

Emergency 

Reserve 

RESTRICTED TABOR Emergency Reserve as 

required by the Colorado State 

Constitution• 3% of TABOR 

Eligible Revenue (Can only be 

used in a declared emergency) 

41,685 NA NA 

PARK 

DONATIONS 

RESTRICTED Reserve of donated funds 

reserved for future additions to 

the Memorial Wall. 

 NA NA 

PARK 

DONATIONS 

RESTRICTED Reserve of donated funds 

reserved for future Poulous 

Park improvements 

 NA NA 

GENERAL FUND UNASSIGNED Balance held in reserve for 

future needs of Administration, 

Building, Public Safety, Parks, 

and Streets. Excess will be 

diverted to Street Capital 

Improvement. 

321,226 299,326 21,900 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

STREET 

CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 

COMMITTED Balance held in reserve for 

future Street reconstruction or 

paving projects. 

90,775 NA NA 

BRIDGE 

RESERVE 

COMMITTED Balance held in reserve for 

future Bridge needs. 

144,168 +40,000 NA 

SIDEWALK 

IMPROVEMENT 

COMMITTED Balance held in reserve for 

future Sidewalk repair or 

replacement projects. 

19,763 NA NA 

SPACE TO 

CREATE 

COMMITTED Balance held in reserve for 

future support for the Paonia 

Creative District. 

13,124 NA NA 

CONSERVATION RESTRICTED Fund Balance -funds reserved 

for future needs of the 

Conservation Trust Fund in the 

Parks 

1,317 NA NA 

CAPTIAL 

ACQUISITION 

COMMITTED Balance held in reserve for 

future assigned capital 

acquisitions. 

293,258 NA NA 

CAPITAL 

(Airport) 

RESTRICTED Balance held in reserve for 

future Airport needs. 

44,892 +7,650 NA 

ENTERPRISE FUNDS (WORKING CAPITAL) 

WATER  ASSIGNED Operating Reserve -25% of 

operating expenditures  

166,873 208,658 (41,785) 

WASTEWATER 

(SEWER) 

ASSIGNED Operating Reserve -25% of 

operating expenditures + 

proceeds from sale of property 

374,079 668,140 (294,061) 

SOLID WASTE 

(TRASH) 

ASSIGNED Residual Fund Balance - 

remaining funds reserved for 

future needs of the Solid Waste 

Fund 

112,419 NA NA 

117



22 
 

DISCLOSURE: 

Information in this policy was extrapolated from the following sources: 

City of Loveland Fund Balance and Reserve Policy 

City of Wheat Ridge Accounting, Budgeting and Financial Policies 2014, Debt Management Policy and 

Unrestricted Fund Balance Policy 

118



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Mayor’s Report 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

119



Mayor’s Report 
 

Local Government Coordination Call 5-12-21 

 DOLA 
o Census 

 One more House seat for CO 
 Growth rate of 14.6% 
 331,428,281 total US population 
 More local counts in August 

o Division of Housing getting $7 million for home ownership 
 $350 million in emergency rental assistance through ‘24 
 Mortgage relief $$ for persons who need help with mortgage payments 
 Hundreds of new Section 8 vouchers 
 Emergency solution grants for people who are homeless or on the verge 

of homelessness 
 By CO legislature for construction of new low income housing  
 Employee housing is under umbrella of workforce housing 

o Local Government 
 Treasury guidance recently given 
 New group put together to disburse these funds 
 State stimulus bills coming through government 

o REDI program 
 Additional $5 million 

 CDPHE 
o Working to get all vaccines out through mobile vaccine clinics, no appointment 

clinics,  
o 12-15 kid vaccines out to pediatrician 
o Masking and restriction planning for fall 

 CDLE 
o Unemployment insurance 

 New verification protocols 
 Stopping fraudulent claims 
 Fraud going down significantly 
 HB21-1264 

 $21 million for job retraining 

 State will distribute all non-entitlement ARP $$ to localities 
o Guides coming out next week 

 
CRC American Rescue Plan 5-12-21 
DOLA – Chantel Unfug - government impacts 

 Timelines: money will come in next couple of days 

 $3 billion to local governments 

 State has 60 days to get it out to counties 

120



 $265 million to towns under 50,000 
o Non-profits are eligible for some of these dollars 
o Clear goals and plans 
o Funds must be expended by 2024 to 2026 
o Priority for water and wastewater projects 
o Priority for disadvantaged people 

 Patience is a virtue – be thoughtful about spending 
CO Fiscal Institute – Ester Turcios 

 Uplift working families 

 Tax credits for working families 
o Earned Income tax credit 

 Increased for 19-25 aged 
 Expanded for over 65 
 Value of credit up to $1500 
 Increased income cap to $20K 

o Child tax credit 
 Increased amount 

 $3K and $36K 
 Removed minimum income 
 Raises qualifying age – 17 and under 
 Provides advanced payments in ’21  
 Lowers phase out rate 

o Changes are just for one year – push to make permanent 
CO Consumer Health Initiative – Isabel Cruz 

 Incentives to expand publicly funded coverage through Medicaid, CHIP, HIS 

 Big expansions to subsidies, tax Credits, and financial incentives to 
o Get coverage through ACA marketplace 
o Keep coverage through COBRA 

 
EEDC – 5-12-21 
Economic Development: How Do We Cultivate a Healthy Economy? 
Economic Development not just growth 

 Stability 

 Diversity 

 Resilience 
Fort Collins Resilience = economic health 

 What do you do well already 

 Diversity  
o different sectors 

 Start, flourish, renew 
Durango - Cultivating economic vitality 

 More organic living thing  

 Dynamic, changing 

121



 Need to be intentional about what you are doing 

 At times work, at times plan 

 Strategic plan 
o “Authentic” = home grown solutions and diversity 
o What we want to accelerate and what to resist 

Lakewood – economic measure 

 Access to jobs for everyone who wants one 

 Child care security 

 Depth of digital access 

 # of residents spending less than 30% on income on housing 
Alamosa – Diversity 

 Opportunities for everybody 

 Strong existing business economy 

 Capacity building – child care 

 Housing 

 Quality of life 
Strong towns website 
 
Die/adapt from extractive industry 
Be choosy about what you want in growth sector – reflect the community values 
What is it that we want to be as our focus or unique values 
Embracing tension 

 Yes come in to our community 

 Emphasize what the community wants 
Donut economics 

 Change the goal – not just growth 

 Meeting the needs of all not at the expense of the planet 

 Thriving balance 

 What economic mindset is fit to the task 
Must focus on Main St businesses as primary employers 

 Combat parochialism 

 Our economy is regional not town boundaries 

 Not Industry clusters but Town clusters  

   
Be more human centered and human scaled not automobile scaled 
Stay away from drift toward bureaucracy and rigidness 
 
 
 
 

 

122



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Finance & Personnel 

Governmental Affairs & Public Safety 

Public Works-Utilities-Facilities 

Tree Board 

Advisory Water  

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear: Trustee Budinger: Trustee Johnson: 

Trustee Knutson: Trustee Meck: 

 

Trustee Pattison: Mayor Bachran: 

 

 

 

123



 

May 10, 2021 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY FORM 

 
 

Adjournment 

Summary:   

 

 

Notes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Possible Motions: 

 

Motion by: ___________________ 2nd: ___________________vote: _________ 

 

Vote: Trustee Bear Trustee Budinger Trustee Johnson 

Trustee Knutson Trustee Meck Trustee Pattison Mayor Bachran 

 

 

 

124


	Top
	1.	ASF - Staff Reports - Admin Only
	ASF - Staff Reports - Admin Only
	Admin Report
	Fanelli Public Comment 

	2.	ASF -Treasurer's Report
	ASF -Treasurer&#39;s Report

	3.	ASF - Disbursements
	ASF - Disbursements
	Disbursements_BudgettoActual_March 2021
	Disbursements

	4.	ASF - Consent Agenda
	ASF - Consent Agenda
	Consent Agenda_051121_DRAFTMIN
	Consent Agenda_FOTPLLR_Redacted
	Consent Agenda_NFVCC_Redacted

	5.	Ethics Complaint
	ASF - Complaint
	Ethics Complaint
	Ethics Complaint-2017-06 Board Code of Conduct - Final

	6.	ASF - DMEA Agreement
	ASF - DMEA Agreement
	DMEA _ Proposed Franchise Renewal 2021

	7.	Board of Appeals - Second Read
	ASF - Ordinance 2021-03 Board of Appeals
	Updated Building Code Board of Appeals

	8.	Lot 5 Hawks Haven Subdivision Pre-Annexation Extension Request
	ASF - Lot 5 Hawks Haven Subdivision Pre-Annexation Extension Request
	Lot 5 Hawks Haven Extension_Redacted

	9.	The Nature Connection & Western Slope Conservation Center - Trail Plan Presentation and In-Kind Request
	ASF - Nature Connection
	MOU Town of Paonia 2021
	The Nature Connection Paonia Town Council May 21

	10.	North Fork Valley Creative Coalition - Poulos Park Wall Mural
	ASF - North Fork Valley Creative Coalition - Poulos Park Wall Mural
	MuralsColorDraft4_21_21

	11.	ASF - Park Area Use
	ASF - Requirements for Use of Various Areas of Town Park

	12.	Updated Financial Policy
	ASF - Fund Balance Financial Policy
	Fund Balance  Financial Policy

	13.	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	ASF - Mayor’s Report
	Mayor report

	14.	ASF - Committee Reports
	ASF -Committee Reports

	15.	ASF - Adjournment
	ASF - Adjournment

	Bottom

